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PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

OVERVIEW  

We are a leading developer and manufacturer of batteries, capacitors, feedthroughs, enclosures, and other components used in implantable 
medical devices ("IMDs") through our Implantable Medical Components ("IMC") business. We offer technologically advanced, highly reliable 
and long lasting products for IMDs and enable our customers to introduce IMDs that are progressively smaller, longer lasting, more efficient 
and more functional. We also leverage our core competencies in technology and manufacturing through our Electrochem Power Solutions 
("EPS") business to develop and produce batteries and battery packs for commercial applications that demand high performance and reliability, 
including oil and gas exploration, oceanographic equipment and aerospace. We believe that our proprietary technology, close customer 
relationships, market leadership and dedication to quality provide us with competitive advantages and create a barrier to entry for potential 
market entrants.  

Our company was incorporated in 1997 and since that time has completed the following acquisitions:  
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Date                    Acquisition                   Business at time of acquisition 
----                    -----------                   ------------------------------- 
July 10, 1997           Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. (WGL )  Founded in 1970, the company designed and manufa ctured 
                                                      batteries for IMDs and commercial applications i ncluding 
                                                      oil and gas, aerospace, and oceanographic. 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
August 7, 1998          Hittman Materials and         Founded in 1962, the company designed and manufa ctured 
                        Medical Components, Inc.      ceramic and glass feedthroughs and specialized p orous 
                        (HMMC)                        coatings for electrodes used in IMDs. 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
August 4, 2000          Battery Engineering, Inc.     Founded in 1983, the company designed and manufa ctured 
                        (BEI)                         high-energy density batteries for industrial, co mmercial, 
                                                      military and medical applications. 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  
June 18, 2001           Sierra-KD Components          Founded in 1986, the company designed and manufa ctured 
                        division of Maxwell           ceramic electromagnetic filtering capacitors and  
                        Technologies, Inc. (Sierra)    integrated them with wire feedthroughs for use i n IMDs. 
                                                      Sierra also designed and manufactured ceramic ca pacitors 
                                                      for military, aerospace and commercial applicati ons. 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------  



 

SEGMENT INFORMATION  

Segment information including sales from external customers, profit or loss, and assets by segment as well as sales from external customers 
and long-lived assets by geographic area are incorporated by reference to Note 15 - Business Segment Information of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  

IMPLANTABLE MEDICAL DEVICES  

An IMD is an instrument that is surgically inserted into the body to provide diagnosis or therapy. One sector of the IMD market is cardiac 
rhythm management ("CRM"), which is comprised of devices such as implantable pacemakers, cardioverter defibrillators ("ICDs"), cardiac 
resynchronization therapy ("CRT") devices, and cardiac resynchronization therapy with backup defibrillation devices ("CRT-D").  

The following table sets forth the main categories of battery-powered IMDs and the principal illness or symptom treated by each device:  

 

The CRM markets are expected to experience double-digit growth for the next three to five years. Increased demand is being driven by the 
following factors:  

Advances in medical technology - new therapies will allow physicians to use IMDs as a substitute for, or in conjunction with, prescription 
drugs, to treat a wider range of heart diseases, such as atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure.  

New, more sophisticated implantable devices - device manufacturers are developing new CRM devices and adding new features to existing 
products. The drive is for smaller, uniquely shaped units with increasingly powerful capabilities that will be easier for physicians to implant 
and will be less intrusive to recipients. Cardiac resynchronization devices are being developed to provide pacing and defibrillation therapy. 
New generation pacemakers include enhanced diagnostic and treatment capabilities.  
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Date                    Acquisition                   Business at time of acquisition 
----                    -----------                   ------------------------------- 
July 9, 2002            Globe Tool and                Founded in 1954, the company designed and manufa ctured 
                        Manufacturing Company, Inc.    precision enclosures used in IMDs and commercial  products  
                        (Globe Tool)                  used within the aerospace, electronic, and autom otive 
                                                      sectors. 

Device                               Principal Illn ess or Symptom 
-------                              -------------- -------------- 
Pacemakers...........................Abnormally slo w heartbeat (Bradycardia) 
ICDs.................................Rapid and irre gular heartbeat (Tachycardia)  
CRT/CRT-Ds...........................Congestive hea rt failure 
Left ventricular assist devices 
(LVADs)..............................Heart failure 
Hearing assist devices...............Hearing loss 
Neurostimulators.....................Tremors or chr onic pain 
Drug pumps...........................Diabetes or ch ronic pain 



New indications for CRM devices - the patient groups that are eligible for CRM devices has increased to include heart attack survivors, patients 
with congestive heart failure, and asymptomatic patients who are at risk for sudden cardiac arrest. Insurance guidelines may allow device 
reimbursements for these expanding patient populations.  

An aging population - the number of people in the United States that are over age 65 is expected to double in the next 30 years. People over 85 
are the fastest growing age group and are most likely to have chronic care needs.  

New indications for other devices - there is an increased use of recently developed IMDs, including left ventricular assist devices, hearing assist 
devices, neurostimulators and drug pumps.  

New performance requirements - government regulators are increasingly requiring that IMDs be protected from interference from devices like 
cell phones and two-way pagers. It is estimated that less than half of all implantable devices are protected.  

Global markets - it is anticipated that there will be increased market penetration beyond the United States and other developed countries.  

COMMERCIAL BATTERY INDUSTRY  

Commercial batteries are used in demanding applications such as oil and gas exploration and production, oceanographic, and aerospace. High 
performance batteries and battery packs are used in pipeline inspection systems, lightening detectors and seismic applications in the oil and gas 
markets.  

High quality, reliable products that can deliver increased performance are the drivers for demand in the commercial battery industry. It is 
expected that applications in new technologies used for reworking existing wells will increase. Natural gas exploration is increasing at a rapid 
pace as natural gas powered power plants increase in number. Pipeline inspection gauge usage is increasing due to new US legislation. Military 
and aerospace trends show increasing demand for reliable power sources, including rechargeable cells.  
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PRODUCTS  

The following table provides information about our principal products:  
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                                                                                                PRINCI PAL PRODUCT 
 PRODUCT                DESCRIPTION                          USED IN                               ATT RIBUTES 
 -------                -----------                          -------                               --- ------- 
 
IMPLANTABLE MEDICAL COMPONENTS: 
------------------------------ 
 
 Batteries              Power sources for IMDs - in cludes    Pacemakers, ICDs, CRTs and     High relia bility and 
                           Lithium Iodine ("Li               CRT-Ds, LVADs,                 predictabi lity 
                           Iodine")                          neuro-stimulators, drug        Long servi ce life 
                           Lithium silver vanadium           pumps and hearing assist       Customized  configuration  
                           oxide ("Li SVO")                  devices                        Light weig ht 
                           Lithium carbon                                                   Compact an d less 
                           monoflouride ("Li CFx")                                          intrusive 
                           Lithium ion rechargeable  
                           ("Li Ion") and 
                           Lithium SVO/CFx ("Quasar ") 
 
 Capacitors             Storage for energy generate d by a    ICDs and CRT-Ds                Stores mor e energy per 
                        battery before delivery to the                                      unit volum e (energy 
                        heart, includes:                                                    density) t han other 
                                 Wet tantalum                                               existing t echnologies 
                                                                                            Customized  configuration  
 
 EMI Filters            Filters electromagnetic              Medical Devices                High relia bility 
                        interference to limit undes irable                                   attenuatio n of EMI RF 
                        response, malfunctioning or                                          over wide frequency 
                        degradation in the performa nce of                                   ranges 
                        electronic equipment                                                Customized  design 
 
 Feedthroughs           Allow electrical signals to  be       Pacemakers, ICDs, LVADs,       Ceramic to  metal seal is  
                        brought from inside hermeti cally     neuro-stimulators, drug        substantia lly more 
                        sealed IMD to an electrode           pumps and hearing assist       durable th an traditional  
                                                             devices                        seals 
                                                                                            Multifunct ional 
 
 Electrodes             Deliver electric signal fro m the     Pacemakers and ICDs            High quali ty coated 
                        feedthrough to a body part                                          surface 
                        undergoing stimulation                                              Flexible i n utilizing 
                                                                                            any combin ation of 
                                                                                            biocompati ble coating 
                                                                                            surfaces 
                                                                                            Customized  offering of 
                                                                                            surfaces a nd tips 
 
 Precision              Machined and molded parts f or IMDs.  Pacemakers, ICDs and drug      High level  of 
 components                                                  pumps                          manufactur ing precision 
                                                                                            Broad manu facturing 
                                                                                            flexibilit y 
 
 Enclosures and         Cases and related parts for  IMDs.    Pacemakers, ICDs, capacitors.  Precision manufacturing,  
 related components                                                                         flexibilit y in 
                                                                                            configurat ions and 
                                                                                            materials.  
 
ELECTROCHEM POWER SOLUTIONS: 
--------------------------- 
 
 Batteries and          Batteries and battery packs  for      Oil and gas exploration,       Long-life dependability 
 battery packs          demanding commercial applic ations    oceanographic equipment        High energ y density 



RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND ENGINEERING  

Our position as a leading developer and manufacturer of components for IMDs is largely the result of our long history of technological 
innovation. We invest substantial resources in research, development and engineering. Our scientists, engineers and technicians focus on 
improving existing products, expanding the use of our products and developing new products. In addition to our internal technology and 
product development efforts, we at times engage outside research institutions for special projects.  

PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY  

We rely on a combination of patents, licenses, trade secrets and know-how to establish and protect our proprietary rights to our technologies 
and products. As of December 31, 2003, we have 209 active U.S. patents and 57 active foreign patents. We also have 221 U.S. and 317 foreign 
pending patent applications at various stages of approval. During the past three years, we have received 95 new U.S. patents, of which 42 were 
received in 2003. Corresponding foreign patents have been issued or are expected to be issued in the near future. Often, several patents 
covering various aspects of the design protect a single product. We believe this provides broad protection of the inventions employed.  

Our active battery patents relate to process improvements and modifications to the original technology that was developed either by our 
Company, or others.  

The following table provides a breakdown of our patents as of December 31, 2003 by product type:  

 

We license the basic technology used in our wet tantalum capacitors from Evans Capacitor Company. The license extends throughout the lives 
of the related patents, which expire in 2010, 2013 and 2014. The license can be cancelled if we default under the license agreement and fail to 
cure the default. A cancellation of the license would seriously impair our ability to produce our entire line of capacitors.  
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                                                                    TOTAL 
PRODUCT                                                         ACTIVE PATENTS  
Batteries - Li Iodine                                                 19 
Batteries - Li SVO                                                   109 
Batteries - Li CFx                                                    10 
Batteries - Li Ion                                                    23 
Batteries - Quasar                                                     7 
Batteries - Commercial                                                26 
Capacitors - Wet tantalum                                             16 
Capacitors - Ceramic                                                  15 
Feedthroughs                                                           3 
Pumps                                                                 10 
Other products and processes                                          28 
                                                                    ----- 
Total                                                                266 
                                                                    ===== 



The significant patents that we maintain for the capacitor technology relate to ultrasonically coated substrate for use in a capacitor and method 
of manufacture; hermetically sealed wet tantalum capacitor; electrolyte for use in a capacitor; and the anode for an electrolytic capacitor which 
expire between 2017 and 2019.  

The significant patents that we maintain for filtered feedthrough technology relate to filtered feedthrough capacitor assemblies such as a 
feedthrough capacitor assembly with a capture flange, an EMI feedthrough filter capacitor and hermetic terminal assembly combination, and a 
filter capacitor that allows for helium gas passage.  

A significant patent issued to us this past year relates to a lithium electrochemical cell having a cathode of silver vanadium oxide and 
fluorinated carbon contacted to the opposite sides of a current collector. This electrode construction provides the cell with the high rate capacity 
of SVO and the high energy density of fluorinated carbon. The result is an implantable cell for an ICD that delivers the highest energy density 
and greatest longevity in the industry and provides stable charge time throughout its useful life. Our scientists pioneered this unique 
technology. We have seven issued patents relating to this technology as well as an additional 14 patent applications awaiting approval.  

In addition, we are also a party to several license agreements with third parties pursuant to which we have obtained, on varying terms, the 
exclusive or non-exclusive rights to patents held by them. We have also granted rights in our own patents to others under license agreements.  

It is our policy to require our executive and technical employees, consultants and other parties to execute confidentiality agreements. These 
agreements prohibit disclosure of confidential information to third parties except in specified circumstances. In the case of employees and 
consultants, the agreements generally provide that all confidential information relating to our business is the exclusive property of our 
company.  

MANUFACTURING AND QUALITY CONTROL  

We primarily manufacture small lot sizes, as most customer orders range from a few hundred to thousands of units. As a result, our ability to 
remain flexible is an important factor in maintaining high levels of productivity. Each of our production teams receives assistance from a 
manufacturing support team, which typically consists of representatives from our quality control, engineering, manufacturing, materials and 
procurement departments.  

Our quality system is based upon an ISO documentation system and is driven by a master validation plan that requires rigorous testing and 
validation of all new processes or process changes that directly impact our products. All of our facilities are ISO-9001-2000 registered, which 
requires compliance with regulations regarding quality systems of product design (where applicable), supplier control, manufacturing processes 
and management review. This certification can only be achieved after completion of an audit conducted by an independent authority. Our 
facilities are audited by the National Standards Authority of Ireland, an independent auditing firm and notified body that specializes in 
evaluating quality standards. To maintain certification, all facilities must be reexamined routinely by our certifying body.  
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SALES AND MARKETING  

Products from our IMC business are sold directly to our customers. In our EPS business, we utilize a combination of direct and indirect sales 
methods, depending on the particular product. In 2003, approximately 65% of our products were sold in the United States. Information 
regarding our sales by geographic area is set forth at Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

The majority of our medical customers contract with us to develop custom components and assemblies to fit their specific product 
specifications. As a result, we have established close working relationships between our internal program managers and our customers. We 
market our products and technologies at industry meetings and trade shows domestically and internationally, including NASPE - Heart Rhythm 
Society's Annual Scientific Sessions, CardioStim, and the American Society for Artificial Internal Organs (ASAIO).  

Internal sales managers support all activity, and involve engineers and technology professionals in the sales process to address customer 
requests appropriately.  

We sell our commercial batteries and battery packs either directly to the end user, directly to manufacturers that incorporate our products into 
other devices for resale, or to distributors who sell our products to manufacturers and end users. Our sales managers are trained to assist our 
customers in selecting appropriate battery chemistries and configurations. We market our EPS products at various technical trade meetings. We 
also place print advertisements in relevant trade publications.  

Firm backlog orders at December 31, 2003 and 2002, were $40.4 million and $45.7 million, respectively. Most of these orders are expected to 
be shipped within one year.  

CUSTOMERS  

Our products are designed to provide reliable, long lasting solutions that meet the evolving requirements and needs of our customers and the 
end users of their products. Our medical customers include leading IMD manufacturers such as Guidant, St. Jude Medical, Medtronic, 
Biotronik, Cyberonics and ELA/Sorin. In 2003, Guidant and St. Jude Medical, our two largest customers, collectively accounted for 
approximately 66% of our total sales. The nature and extent of our selling relationships with each CRM customer are different in terms of 
component products purchased, selling prices, product volumes, ordering patterns and inventory management.  

Our EPS customers are primarily companies involved in oil and gas exploration, oceanography and aerospace.  

We have entered into a supply agreement with Guidant pursuant to which Guidant purchases batteries from us for use in its IMDs. The 
agreement secures pricing and volumes for Li Iodine, Li SVO and CFx batteries. The contract period for the agreement is April 1, 2003 to 
December 31, 2006 and can be renewed for additional one-year periods upon mutual agreement. Guidant also separately purchases components 
from us for use in its IMDs.  
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We have entered into a supply agreement with St. Jude Medical pursuant to which St. Jude Medical purchases batteries, wet tantalum 
capacitors, components and enclosures under specified price and volume terms. The contract period is January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2006 
and can be extended for an additional two-year period at the option of St. Jude Medical.  

SUPPLIERS AND RAW MATERIALS  

We purchase certain critical raw materials for our business from a limited number of suppliers due to the technically challenging requirements 
of the supplied product and / or the lengthy process required to qualify these materials with our customers. We cannot quickly establish 
additional or replacement suppliers for these materials because of these requirements. In the past, we have not experienced any significant 
interruptions or delays in obtaining these raw materials. We maintain minimum safety stock levels of critical raw materials.  

For other raw material purchases, we utilize competitive pricing methods to secure supply such as bulk purchases, precious metal pool buys, 
blanket orders, and long term contracts at terms that are favorable to us. We believe that there are alternative suppliers or substitute products 
available for each of the materials we purchase at competitive prices.  

COMPETITION  

Our existing or potential competitors in our IMC business includes leading IMD manufacturers, such as Guidant, St. Jude Medical, Medtronic, 
and Biotronik, which have vertically integrated operations or may become vertically integrated in the future, as well as independent suppliers 
who typically specialize in one type of component.  

We also have the following non-vertically integrated competition in our IMC and EPS businesses:  
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Product Line                           Competitors 
Medical batteries                      Litronik (a subsidiary of Biotronik)  
                                       Eagle-Picher  
                                       NanoGram Dev ices Corporation 
                                       Quallion 
 
Capacitors                             Critical Med ical Components 
 
Feedthroughs                           Alberox (sub sidiary of The Morgan 
                                       Crucible Co.   PLC) 
 
EMI filtering                          AVX (subsidi ary of Kyocera) 
 
Components                             Donatelle 
                                       Heraeus 
                                       Johnson Matt hey 
                                       Stellar 
 
Enclosures                             National Man ufacturing 



 

GOVERNMENT REGULATION  

Except as described below, our business is not subject to direct governmental regulation other than the laws and regulations generally 
applicable to businesses in the jurisdictions in which we operate. We are subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations 
governing the emission, discharge, use, storage and disposal of hazardous materials and the remediation of contamination associated with the 
release of these materials at our facilities and at off-site disposal locations. Our manufacturing and research, development and engineering 
activities involve the controlled use of, and our products contain, small amounts of hazardous materials. Liabilities associated with hazardous 
material releases arise principally under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and analogous state 
laws which impose strict, joint and several liability on owners and operators of contaminated facilities and parties that arrange for the off-site 
disposal of hazardous materials. We are not aware of any material noncompliance with the environmental laws currently applicable to our 
business and we are not subject to any material claim for liability with respect to contamination at any company facility or any off-site location. 
We cannot assure you, however, that we will not be subject to such environmental liabilities in the future as a result of historic or current 
operations.  

As a component manufacturer, our products are not subject to regulation by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). However, the FDA and 
related state and foreign governmental agencies regulate many of our customers' products as medical devices. In many cases, the FDA must 
approve those products prior to commercialization. In addition, because some of the products produced by our engineered components division 
may be considered finished medical devices, some of the operations within that division are subject to FDA inspection and must comply with 
current good manufacturing practices (CGMP) requirements.  

We have four Master Files on record with the FDA. Master Files may be used to provide confidential detailed information about facilities, 
processes, or articles used in the manufacturing, processing, packaging, and storing of one or more medical device components. These 
submissions may be used by device manufacturers to support the premarket notification process required by Section 510(k) of the Federal Food 
Drug & Cosmetic Act. This notification process is necessary to obtain clearance from the FDA to market a device for human use in the United 
States.  

RECRUITING AND TRAINING  

We invest substantial resources in our recruiting efforts that focus on supplying quality personnel to support our business objectives. We have 
established a number of programs that are designed to challenge and motivate our employees. All staff is encouraged to be proactive in 
contributing ideas. Feedback surveys are used to collect suggestions on ways that our business and  
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                                       Tadiran 
                                       Tracer Techn ologies  
                                       Ultralife 



operations can be improved. We further meet our hiring needs through outside sources as required.  

We provide an intensive training program for our new employees that is designed to educate them on safety, quality, business strategy, 
corporate culture, and the methodologies and technical competencies that are required for our business. Our safety training programs focus on 
such areas as basic industrial safety practices and emergency response procedures to deal with any potential fires or chemical spills. All of our 
employees are required to participate in a twenty hour specialized training program that is designed to provide an understanding of our quality 
objectives. Supporting our lifelong learning environment, we offer our employees a tuition reimbursement program and encourage them to 
continue their education at accredited colleges and universities. Many of our professionals attend seminars on topics that are related to our 
corporate objectives and strategies. We believe that comprehensive training is necessary to ensure that our employees have state of the art 
skills, utilize best practices, and have a common understanding of work practices.  

EMPLOYEES  

The following table provides a breakdown of employees by primary function as of December 31, 2003:  

 

We also employ a number of temporary employees to assist us with various projects and service functions and address peaks in staff 
requirements. Our employees are not represented by any union and are retained on an at-will basis. We believe that we have a good relationship 
with our employees.  

AVAILABLE INFORMATION  

The Company makes available free of charge on or through its internet website its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-
Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to  
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after it electronically files such material with, 
or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Internet address is http://www.greatbatch.com. The information contained on 
the Company's website is not incorporated by reference in this annual report on Form 10-K and should not be considered a part of this report.  
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Manufacturing                                                       1,132  
Research and development                                              114  
General and administrative                                            105  
Engineering                                                            51  
Sales and marketing                                                    29  
                                                                    -----  
Total                                                               1,431  
                                                                    =====  



CAUTIONARY FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS  

Some of the statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other written and oral statements made from time to time by us and 
our representatives, are not statements of historical or current fact. As such, they are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We have based 
these forward-looking statements on our current expectations, which are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions. 
They include statements relating to:  

o future sales, expenses and profitability;  

o the future development and expected growth of our business and the IMD industry;  

o our ability to execute our business model and our business strategy;  

o our ability to identify trends within the IMD, medical component, and commercial power source industries and to offer products and services 
that meet the changing needs of those markets;  

o projected capital expenditures; and  

o trends in government regulation.  

You can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "expects," "intends," "plans," 
"anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential" or "continue" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. 
These statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements. 
In evaluating these statements and our prospects generally, you should carefully consider the factors set forth below. All forward-looking 
statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary factors and to others 
contained throughout this report. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report or to 
conform these statements to actual results.  

Although it is not possible to create a comprehensive list of all factors that may cause actual results to differ from the results expressed or 
implied by our forward-looking statements or that may affect our future results, some of these factors include the following: dependence upon a 
limited number of customers, product obsolescence, inability to market current or future products, pricing pressure from customers, reliance on 
third party suppliers for raw materials, products and subcomponents, fluctuating operating results, inability to maintain high quality standards 
for our products, challenges to our intellectual property rights, product liability claims, inability to successfully consummate and integrate 
acquisitions, unsuccessful expansion into new markets, competition, inability to obtain licenses to key technology, regulatory changes or 
consolidation in the healthcare industry, and other risks and uncertainties that arise from time to time and are described in the Company's 
periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and in Exhibit 99.1 to this filing.  
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

Our executive offices are located in Clarence, New York. The building that houses our executive offices also contains warehouse operations, a 
variety of support services and capacity for light manufacturing or laboratory space.  

The following table sets forth information about all of our principal manufacturing or testing facilities:  

 

We believe these facilities are suitable and adequate for our current business.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

We are involved in various lawsuits and claims incidental to our business. We believe the ultimate outcome resulting from resolution of these 
lawsuits and claims will not materially affect our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

None.  
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Location                                 Sq. Ft. Ow n/Lease       Use 
--------                                 ------  -- -------       --- 
Alden, NY......................          113,000 Ow n             Future manufacturing 
Amherst, NY....................          81,650  Ow n             Available for sale 
Clarence, NY...................          82,766  Ow n             Medical battery manufacturing and res earch, 
                                                                 development and engineering (RD&E) 
Clarence, NY...................          20,800  Ow n             Machining and assembly of components 
Clarence, NY...................          18,550  Le ase           Machining and assembly of components 
Clarence, NY...................          45,306  Le ase           Offices and warehouse 
Wheatfield, NY.................           2,772  Le ase           Battery destructive testing 
Cheektowaga, NY................          35,509  Le ase           Capacitor manufacturing and RD&E 
Canton, MA.....................          32,000  Ow n             Commercial battery manufacturing and RD&E 
Columbia, MD...................          30,000  Le ase           Feedthrough and electrode manufacturi ng and RD&E  
Carson City, NV................          23,840  Ow n             EMI filtering manufacturing and RD&E 
Minneapolis, MN................          72,000  Ow n             Enclosure manufacturing and engineeri ng 



ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS  

The Company's common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol "GB." The following table sets forth, for the 
periods indicated, the high and low closing prices per share for the common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape.  

 

As of March 5, 2004 there were 267 record holders of the Company's common stock. Our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) is 
considered one record holder for the purposes of this calculation. There are approximately 1,600 participants in the ESOP including active and 
former employees.  

We have not paid cash dividends and currently intend to retain any earnings to further develop and grow our business.  
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2002                                                 High                   Low 
                                                     ------                 ------  
First Quarter                                        $37.60                 $24.18  
Second Quarter                                        28.40                  21.20  
Third Quarter                                         28.69                  20.10  
Fourth Quarter                                        31.50                  24.50  
 
2003 
First Quarter                                        $29.77                 $23.50  
Second Quarter                                        37.25                  26.55  
Third Quarter                                         40.30                  35.37  
Fourth Quarter                                        43.05                  35.60  



ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA  

The following table provides selected financial data of our Company for the periods indicated. You should read the selected consolidated 
financial data set forth below in conjunction with Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations," and with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this report. The consolidated statement of 
operations data and the consolidated balance sheet data for the periods indicated have been derived from our financial statements and related 
notes.  

 

(1) In August 2000, we acquired the capital stock of Battery Engineering, Inc. (BEI). These amounts include the results of operations of BEI 
subsequent to its acquisition.  
(2) In June 2001, we acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Greatbatch-Sierra. These amounts include the results of operations 
of Greatbatch-Sierra subsequent to its acquisition.  
(3) In July 2002, we acquired the capital stock of Greatbatch-Globe. These amounts include the results of operations of Greatbatch-Globe 
subsequent to its acquisition.  
(4) The Company's fiscal year ends on the Friday closest to December 31. For clarity of presentation, the Company describes all periods as if 
the year-end is December 31. Fiscal 2002 contained 53 weeks.  
(5) We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment 
of FASB 13, and Technical Corrections, at the beginning of fiscal year 2003. Under SFAS No. 145, we are no longer allowed to classify debt 
extinguishments as extraordinary items in our consolidated financial statements, subject to limited exceptions. Accordingly, amounts 
previously classified as extraordinary related to debt extinguishments in fiscal 2001and 2000 have been reclassified as components of income 
(loss) before income taxes.  
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                                                  D ecember 31, (4) 
Years ended                 2003        2002(3)  20 01(2)(5)  2000(1)(5)         1999 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------  
                                  (In thousands, ex cept per share data) 
                     ------------------------------ ----------------------------------  
Consolidated 
 Statement of 
 Operations Data: 
Sales                   $216,365      $167,296    $ 135,575     $97,790       $79,235 
Income (loss) before 
 income taxes and 
 cumulative effect of 
 accounting change       $33,316       $20,965     $13,778       $(876)      $(2,314)  
Income (loss) per 
 share from 
 continuing 
 operations: 
 Basic                     $1.10         $0.69       $0.44      $(0.04)       $(0.14)  
 Diluted                   $1.08         $0.68       $0.43      $(0.04)       $(0.14)  
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------  
Consolidated Balance 
 Sheet Data: 
Working capital         $170,455       $40,204     $61,596     $15,079       $17,621 
Total assets            $438,243      $312,251    $ 283,520    $181,647       $89,779 
Long-term obligations    $78,994       $77,040     $61,397     $30,951      $127,623 



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

YOU SHOULD READ THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS IN CONJUNCTION WITH OUR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND RELATED NOTES INCLUDED ELSEWHERE IN 
THIS REPORT.  

We are a leading developer and manufacturer of batteries, capacitors, feedthroughs, enclosures, and other components used in implantable 
medical devices ("IMDs") through our Implantable Medical Components ("IMC") business. We also leverage our core competencies in 
technology and manufacturing through our Electrochem Power Solutions ("EPS") business to develop and produce batteries and battery packs 
for commercial applications that demand high performance and reliability, including oil and gas exploration, oceanographic equipment and 
aerospace.  

Most of the IMC products that we sell are utilized by customers in cardiac rhythm management ("CRM") devices. The CRM market comprises 
devices utilizing high-rate batteries and capacitors such as implantable cardioverter defibrillators ("ICDs") and cardiac resynchronization 
therapy with backup defibrillation devices ("CRT-D") and devices utilizing low or medium rate batteries but no capacitors (pacemakers and 
CRTs). All CRM devices utilize other components such as enclosures and feedthroughs, and certain CRM devices utilize electromagnetic 
interference ("EMI") filtering technology. The nature and extent of our selling relationships with each CRM customer are different in terms of 
component products purchased, selling prices, product volumes, ordering patterns and inventory management. Consequently, our sales and 
gross profit can be significantly affected by our customers' actions. Our EPS sales are derived primarily from sales of batteries and battery 
packs for use in oil and gas exploration. We also supply batteries to NASA for its space shuttle program and other similarly demanding 
commercial applications.  

A substantial part of our business is conducted with a limited number of customers. Our two largest customers accounted for approximately 
66% of consolidated sales in 2003. We have entered into long-term supply agreements with some of our customers. For each of our products, 
we recognize revenue when the products are shipped and title passes.  

We utilize a fifty-two, fifty-three week fiscal year ending on the Friday nearest December 31st. For clarity of presentation, the Company 
describes all periods as if the year-end is December 31st. Fiscal 2002 included 53 weeks.  
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES  

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. The methods, estimates and judgments 
we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on the results we report in our financial statements. Management considers 
an accounting estimate to be critical if:  

o It requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made; and  

o Changes in the estimate or different estimates that could have been selected could have a material impact on our consolidated results of 
operations, financial position, or cash flows.  

Our most critical accounting estimates are described below. We also have other policies that we consider key accounting policies, such as our 
policies for revenue recognition; however, these policies do not meet the definition of critical accounting estimates, because they do not 
generally require us to make estimates or judgments that are difficult or subjective.  
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---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
 Balance Sheet Caption / Nature                                                       Effect of Variat ions on Key 
    of Critical Estimate Item               Assumpt ions / Approach Used                    Assumptions  Used 
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
Inventories                        Inventory standa rd costing requires complex     Variations in metho ds could have 
                                   calculations tha t include assumptions for       a material impact o n the 
Inventories are stated at the      overhead absorpt ion, scrap and sample           results.  If our de mand forecast 
lower of cost, determined using    calculations and  manufacturing yield            for specific produc ts is greater 
the first-in, first-out method,    estimates.  The valuation of inventory          than actual demand and we fail 
or market.                         requires us to e stimate obsolete or excess      to reduce manufactu ring output 
                                   inventory as wel l as inventory that is not of   accordingly, we cou ld be 
                                   saleable quality .                               required to record additional 
                                                                                   inventory reserves,  which would 
                                                                                   have a negative imp act on our 
                                                                                   gross margins. 
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
Goodwill and other indefinite      We perform an an nual review, or more            We make certain est imates and 
lived assets                       frequently if in dicators of potential           assumptions that af fect the 
                                   impairment exist , to determine if the           determination of th e expected 
Goodwill is initially recorded     recorded goodwil l and other indefinite lived    future cash flows f rom our 
when the purchase price paid for   assets are impai red.  We assess these assets    goodwill and indefi nite lived 
an acquisition exceeds the         for impairment b y comparing the fair value of   assets.  These esti mates and 
estimated fair value of the net    the reporting un its to their carrying value     assumptions include  sales growth 
identified tangible and            to determine if there is potential              projections, cost o f capital 
intangible assets acquired.        impairment.  If the fair value of a reporting   projections, and ot her key 
Other indefinite lived assets      unit is less tha n its carrying value, an        indications of futu re cash 
such as trademark & names are      impairment loss is recorded to the extent       flows.  Significant  changes in 
considered unamortizing            that the implied  fair value of the goodwill     these estimates and  assumptions 
intangible assets as they are      within the repor ting unit is less than its      could create future  impairment 
expected to generate cash flows    carrying value.  Fair values for goodwill are   losses in either re porting unit. 
indefinitely.                      determined based  on discounted cash flows, 
                                   market multiples  or appraised values as 
                                   appropriate. 
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
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---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
Long-lived assets                   We assess the i mpairment of long-lived         Estimation of the u seful lives 
                                    assets when eve nts or changes in               of assets that are long-lived 
Property, plant and equipment,      circumstances i ndicate that the carrying       requires significan t management 
definite-lived intangible           value of the as sets may not be recoverable.    judgment.  Events c ould occur, 
assets, and other long-lived        Factors that we  consider in deciding when to   including changes i n cash flow, 
assets are carried at cost.         perform an impa irment review include           that would material ly affect our 
This cost is charged to             significant und er-performance of a business    estimates and assum ptions 
depreciation or amortization        or product line  in relation to expectations,   related to deprecia tion. 
expense over the estimated life     significant neg ative industry or economic      Unforeseen changes in operations 
of the operating assets             trends, and sig nificant changes or planned     or technology could  
primarily using straight-line       changes in our use of the assets.              substantially alter  the 
rates.                              Recoverability potential is measured by        assumptions regardi ng the 
                                    comparing the c arrying amount of the asset     ability to realize the return of 
                                    to the related total future undiscounted       our investment in o perating 
                                    cash flows.  If  an asset's carrying value is   assets and therefor e the amount 
                                    not recoverable  through related cash flows,    of depreciation exp ense to 
                                    the asset is co nsidered to be impaired.        charge against both  current and 
                                    Impairment is m easured by comparing the        future sales.  Also , as we make 
                                    asset's carryin g amount to its fair value,     manufacturing proce ss 
                                    based on the be st information available,       conversions and oth er factory 
                                    including marke t prices or discounted cash     planning decisions,  we must make 
                                    flow analysis.  When it is determined that     subjective judgment s regarding 
                                    useful lives of  assets are shorter than        the remaining usefu l lives of 
                                    originally esti mated, and there are            assets, primarily m anufacturing 
                                    sufficient cash  flows to support the           equipment and build ing 
                                    carrying value of the assets, we accelerate    improvements. 
                                    the rate of dep reciation in order to fully 
                                    depreciate the assets over their new shorter 
                                    useful lives. 
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
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---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  
Provision for Income Taxes         In relation to r ecording the provision for      Changes could occur  that would 
                                   income taxes, ma nagement must estimate the      materially affect o ur estimates 
In accordance with the liability   future tax rates  applicable to the reversal     and assumptions reg arding 
method of accounting for income    of tax differenc es, make certain assumptions    deferred taxes.  Ch anges in 
taxes specified in Statement of    regarding whethe r tax differences are           current tax laws an d tax rates 
Financial Accounting Standards     permanent or tem porary and the related time     could affect the va luation of 
No. 109, Accounting for Income     of expected reve rsal.  Also, estimates are      deferred tax assets  and 
Taxes, the provision for income    made as to wheth er taxable operating income     liabilities, thereb y changing 
taxes is the sum of income taxes   in future period s will be sufficient to fully   the income tax prov ision.  Also, 
both currently payable and         recognize any gr oss deferred tax assets.  If    significant decline s in taxable 
deferred.  The changes in          recovery is not likely, we must increase our    income could materi ally impact 
deferred tax assets and            provision for ta xes by recording a valuation    the realizable valu e of deferred 
liabilities are determined based   allowance agains t the deferred tax assets       tax assets.  At Dec ember 31, 
upon the changes in differences    that we estimate  will not ultimately be         2003 we had $6.1 mi llion of 
between the basis of assets and    recoverable.  As  of December 31 2003, we        deferred tax assets  on our 
liabilities for financial          believe that all  of the deferred tax assets     balance sheet.  A 1 % increase in 
reporting purposes and the basis   recorded on our balance sheet except for        the effective tax r ate would 
of assets and liabilities as       $565,000 will ul timately be recovered.          increase the curren t year 
measured by the enacted tax                                                        provision by $333,0 00 , reducing 
rates that management estimates    In addition, the  calculation of our tax         fully diluted earni ngs per share 
will be in effect when the         liabilities invo lves dealing with               by $0.01 based on s hares 
differences reverse.               uncertainties in  the application of complex     outstanding at Dece mber 31, 2003. 
                                   tax regulations.   We recognize liabilities 
                                   for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S. 
                                   and other tax ju risdictions based on our 
                                   estimate of whet her, and the extent to which, 
                                   additional taxes  will be due.  If we 
                                   ultimately deter mine that payment of these 
                                   amounts is unnec essary, we reverse the 
                                   liability and re cognize a tax benefit during 
                                   the period in wh ich we determine that the 
                                   liability is no longer necessary.  We record 
                                   an additional ch arge in our provision for 
                                   taxes in the per iod in which we determine 
                                   that the recorde d tax liability is less than 
                                   we expect the ul timate assessment to be. 
---------------------------------- ---------------- ------------------------------- ------------------- ---------------  



OVERVIEW  

During 2003, there were many accomplishments that should further strengthen our position in the marketplace in 2004 and beyond.  

o We achieved record financial results with sales growth of 29% and earnings per share growth of 59%.  

o We successfully completed a $170.0 million convertible subordinated notes offering.  

o We improved our operating leverage as evidenced by the increase in our operating margins to 17.7% in 2003 up from 15.5% last year.  

o We signed our third wet tantalum capacitor customer. Three of the five worldwide CRM device manufacturers have now adopted our 
capacitor technology.  

In 2003, we continued to invest in a corporate realignment with the goal being to present "a single face" to our customers. Whereas in the past 
we have been organized as a group of individual operating units developing, manufacturing and selling discrete components, effective January 
1, 2004, we are now comprised of two business units - IMC and EPS.  

On the new technologies front is our first generation Quasar implantable power source. This product offering further enhances our market 
position as a leading developer and manufacturer of implantable batteries for medical devices. Our new Quasar technology, combined with our 
wet tantalum capacitor, should provide performance advantages our customers require. Our filtering inductor slab and integrated filtered 
feedthrough technologies provide enhanced protection from EMI (electro-magnetic interference). This supplies an important added measure of 
security in our customer's products.  

We have under taken several initiatives to change and improve our infrastructure. These initiatives, to date, have included additions to our 
management team, the commencement of the installation of a company wide integrated ERP business platform, increased commitment to the 
expansion of the Six Sigma program, new lean manufacturing implementation, a philosophy and practice of continuous improvement and the 
certification of all company wide operations to ISO 9001-2000 standards.  

As we look forward into next year, we will focus on a number of critical areas. We will continue to address ways to expand our product 
offering and customer penetration. Our production operations will be expanded to meet increased capacitor demand and we will continue to 
focus our efforts on signing the remaining CRM customers to this technology. Significant resources will be spent on our next generation 
Quasar battery technology and we expect to begin product delivery by year-end. We will continue to leverage our infrastructure over a higher 
sales base resulting in improved operating margins. The base implementation of our ERP business platform at all locations is scheduled to be 
completed by the end of the year. And finally, we will continue to look for acquisition opportunities that will strengthen our technological 
leadership or broaden our product offering.  

Our forecasted sales growth is estimated to be lower than experienced in the last two years. In 2004 the Company has begun to see downward 
pricing pressures on some of its products.  
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However, we expect to expand our operating margins based on increased sales volume, increased leverage of our infrastructure and 
manufacturing cost reductions. Partially offsetting this growth, are increased costs for the start-up of our new medical production facility, 
increased cost to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley requirements, higher insurance premiums and the establishment of an internal audit function. 
We anticipate that in 2004 we will incur additional capital costs primarily due to the build-out of the medical production facility and from the 
continuation of the ERP implementation. We must continue to invest in research and development in order to maintain our competitive 
position.  

In summary, our results for the full year reached record levels reflecting the continued robustness in the CRM market. Our focus for 2004 will 
be in five critical areas:  

o Increasing our capacitor customer penetration;  

o Identifying value-add sales opportunities from our broad product offering;  

o Delivering on our next generation quasar battery technology by year end;  

o Improving our operating margin through leverage of our existing infrastructure and from manufacturing cost reductions; and  

o Completing the implementation of the base ERP system.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION  

The commentary that follows should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes.  
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Results of Operations               Year ended Dece mber 31,     2003 - 2002          2002 - 2001 
In thousands, except per share 
 data                                2003      2002       2001      $Change % Change  $Change  % Change  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------  
IMC 
   ICD batteries                  $41,494   $28,518    $22,215    $12,976    46%      $6,303        28%  
   Pacemaker batteries             22,535    20,354     22,923      2,181    11%      (2,569)      -11%  
   Other batteries                  3,662     3,035        722        627    21%       2,313       320%  
   ICD capacitors                  31,668    24,678     20,290      6,990    28%       4,388        22%  
   Other components                90,862    65,316     40,513     25,546    39%      24,803        61%  
   Royalties                            -         -        991          -     0%        (991)     -100%  
                                 ------------------ ---------------------------------------------------  
Total IMC                         190,221   141,901    107,654     48,320    34%      34,247        32%  
EPS                                26,144    25,395     27,921        749     3%      (2,526)       -9%  
                                 ------------------ ---------------------------------------------------  
Total Sales                       216,365   167,296    135,575     49,069    29%      31,721        23%  
Cost of sales                     126,537    96,398     74,716     30,139    31%      21,682        29%  
                                 ------------------ ---------------------------------------------------  
Gross profit                       89,828    70,898     60,859     18,930    27%      10,039        16%  
Gross margin                         41.5%     42.4 %     44.9% 
Selling, general, and 
 administrative expenses (SG&A)    30,384    24,369     18,174      6,015    25%       6,195        34%  
SG&A as a % of sales                 14.0%     14.6 %     13.4% 
Research, development and 
 engineering costs, net (RD&E)     16,991    14,440     12,575      2,551    18%       1,865        15%  
RD&E as a % of sales                  7.9%      8.6 %      9.3%                           -1% 
Intangible amortization             3,217     3,702      7,726       (485)  -13%      (4,024)      -52%  
Other operating expense             1,036     2,481        132     (1,445)  -58%       2,349      1780%  
                                 ------------------ ---------------------------------------------------  
Operating income                   38,200    25,906     22,252     12,294    47%       3,654        16%  
Operating margin                     17.7%     15.5 %     16.4% 
Interest expense                    4,101     3,752      4,011        349     9%        (259)       -6%  
Interest income                      (702)     (442 )     (423)      (260)   59%         (19)        4%  
Other (income) expense, net         1,485     1,631      4,886       (146)   -9%      (3,255)      -67%  
Provision for income taxes         10,028     6,604      5,181      3,424    52%       1,423        27%  
Effective tax rate                   30.1%     31.5 %     37.6% 
                                 ------------------ ---------------------------------------------------  
Net income                        $23,288   $14,361     $8,597     $8,927    62%      $5,764        67%  
                                 ================== ===================================================  
Net margin                           10.8%      8.6 %      6.3% 
Diluted earnings per share          $1.08     $0.68      $0.43      $0.40    59%       $0.25        58%  



FISCAL 2003 COMPARED WITH FISCAL 2002  

We achieved record sales performance in 2003. The increase in total sales for 2003 included a full year of sales of Greatbatch-Globe, which we 
acquired in July 2002.  

Sales  

IMC. The sales growth for IMC was led by sales of ICD batteries reflecting the strength of this market. In addition, capacitor and components 
sales increased substantially over last year. Substantially all of the sales changes during 2003 were attributable to volume and sales mix. 
Looking at our overall sales mix, CRM product sales increased over last year and now represent 83% of our overall product mix, up from 80% 
last year. We remain very positive about the growth prospects of the CRM market long term.  

EPS. Commercial sales increased modestly from a slight rise in volume of orders from oil and gas customers.  

Gross profit  

The decrease in gross margin is primarily due to the costs incurred to consolidate the EPS plants, the start-up costs from the implementation of 
lean manufacturing, the inclusion of the lower margin enclosure products for the full year, the costs for the hiring of new plant management 
personnel and changes in selling prices for certain medical components. These factors contributed to a 310 basis point reduction in gross 
margin on a year over year basis.  

SG&A expenses  

Expenses increased compared to last year in absolute dollars, but declined as a percent of sales due to improved operating leverage. The 
increase in absolute dollars is partially due to the hiring of additional senior management employees.  

RD&E expenses  

Expenses increased compared to last year in absolute dollars, but decreased as a percent of sales compared to last year as sales growth has 
outpaced spending. We expect to maintain our spending on RD&E at a level that will support the new technologies demanded by the IMD 
markets.  

Amortization expense  

The reduction in intangible amortization reflects the impact of the sale of certain intangible assets of the ceramic capacitor product line that was 
part of the Sierra-KD components acquisition in 2003. In addition, one of the patent licenses for wet tantalum capacitors was fully amortized 
during 2002.  
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Other operating expense  

The 2003 amount is primarily attributable to the write-down of a manufacturing facility that became available as the result of a decision to 
purchase an additional manufacturing facility in New York.  

Interest expense and interest income  

Interest expense was lower and interest income was higher primarily due to the issuance of the $170.0 million convertible subordinated notes in 
May 2003. These securities allowed for the outstanding line of credit to be fully replaced at a lower rate of interest and additional funds to be 
invested on a short-term basis.  

Provision for income taxes  

Our effective tax rate declined primarily as a result of increased research and development credits, as well as the benefits of state tax planning 
strategies. The impact of the lower effective tax rate during 2003 was approximately $0.5 million.  

The Extraterritorial Income Exclusion (ETI) provided approximately $1.0 million of tax benefit in 2003. There is currently legislation in 
Congress to repeal the ETI provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and to make numerous changes to the United States international tax 
regime and other laws affecting domestic businesses.  

FISCAL 2002 COMPARED WITH FISCAL 2001  

The increase in total sales for 2002 included sales of Greatbatch-Globe, which we acquired in July 2002.  

IMC. Sales for IMC increased mainly due to our customers' increased demand for ICD batteries in the CRM market. Partially offsetting this 
increase was a decline in royalty revenues from Medtronic on patents that had expired. Capacitor sales increased as a result of increased 
demand by the existing customer for capacitors in 2002. The increase in sales of medical components was primarily due to the inclusion of 
sales from our Greatbatch-Sierra acquisition during the full year of 2002 and our Greatbatch-Globe acquisition for the second half of 2002. 
Substantially all of the revenue changes during 2002 were attributable to volume.  

EPS. Commercial battery and pack sales decreased principally due to a decreased level of exploration in the oil and gas industry in the first six 
months of 2002 compared to 2001.  

Gross profit  

Gross profit increased as a result of increased sales. Production yield issues for filtered feedthroughs, reduced royalty revenues in 2002 
compared to 2001, and the inclusion of lower margin Greatbatch-Globe Tool operations were the primary contributors to the reduced overall 
gross margin.  
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SG&A expenses  

SG&A expenses increased both in dollars and as a percentage of total sales. The increase is primarily due to the inclusion of costs associated 
with the addition of Greatbatch-Sierra for the last half of 2001 and the full year 2002 and Greatbatch-Globe for the last half of 2002, costs 
associated with our Six Sigma(TM) quality initiatives, the general development of our infrastructure to support our growth, and expenses 
related to ongoing patent activity.  

RD&E expenses  

RD&E expenses increased in dollars, but as a percentage of total sales were at the same level for both years. The decrease in the percentage of 
expenses as related to sales is primarily attributable to the low level of RD&E expenses at Greatbatch-Globe. We expect to maintain our 
spending on RD&E at a level that will support the new technologies demanded by the IMD markets.  

Amortization expense  

Intangible amortization decreased significantly due to the cessation of the amortization for goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite 
lives effective the beginning of our fiscal year 2002.  

If the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142) had been 
implemented on January 1, 2001, income from continuing operations and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for 2001 would 
have been $13.8 million and $0.69, respectively.  

If SFAS No. 142 had been implemented on January 1, 2001, net income and diluted earnings per share for 2001 would have been $10.8 million 
and $0.54, respectively.  

Other expenses  

In 2002, other operating expense included a non-recurring charge of $1.7 million representing the write-off of a noncompete agreement after 
the passing of Mr. Fred Hittman.  

Interest expense declined as a result of reduced interest rates during the year. The rate reductions arose from reduced market rates as well as 
contracted rate reductions due to the reduction in leverage measurements during the year. Interest income increased slightly as the Company's 
investable cash was higher in 2002 than 2001 due to the timing of its follow-on public offering and the acquisition of Greatbatch-Globe.  

In 2002 other expense included a non-recurring charge of $1.5 million representing the write-off of the investment in an unrelated company 
based on an analysis of the financial viability of that company. It was determined that the Company's investment in the unrelated company had 
a fair value that is less than its carrying value.  

In 2001 other expense included a charge for the early extinguishment of debt associated with the restructuring of our long-term debt and the 
related write-off of deferred financing fees, a call premium paid, and loan discounts associated with the previous long-term debt.  
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Provision for income taxes  

Our effective tax rate declined primarily as a result of increased research and development credits, as well as the benefits of state tax planning 
strategies, net of anticipated increased state taxes related to the Greatbatch-Globe acquisition. The impact of the lower effective tax rate during 
2003 was approximately $1.2 million.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Our principal source of short-term liquidity is our working capital of $170.5 million at December 31, 2003 combined with our unused $20 
million credit line with our lending syndicate. Historically we have generated cash from operations sufficient to meet our capital expenditure 
and debt service needs, other than for acquisitions. At December 31, 2003 our current ratio was 8.1:1, so short-term liquidity is not an issue.  

The Company regularly engages in discussions relating to potential acquisitions and has identified possible acquisition opportunities and we 
may announce an acquisition transaction at any time.  

At December 31, 2003, our capital structure consisted primarily of $170.0 million of convertible subordinated notes and our 21.6 million shares 
of common stock outstanding. We have in excess of $131.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and are in a position 
to facilitate future acquisitions if necessary. We are also authorized to issue 100 million shares of common stock and 100 million shares of 
preferred stock. The market value of our outstanding common stock since our IPO has exceeded our book value and the average daily trading 
volume of our common stock has also increased; accordingly, we believe that if needed we can access public markets to sell additional 
common or preferred stock assuming conditions are appropriate.  

In addition to the improved working capital, capital spending of $12.0 million in 2003 was lower than historical expenditure levels. The 
majority of the current year spending was for maintenance capital. In comparison, we spent $21.0 million in 2002 , which included 
approximately $8.0 million for new investment projects in addition to approximately $13.0 million for maintenance capital. In 2003, we 
significantly enhanced our balance sheet through improved cash flow from operations and through the convertible note financing we completed 
in May. This improved capital structure allows us to support our internal growth and provides liquidity for corporate development initiatives. 
We anticipate that in 2004 we will incur additional capital costs primarily due to the build-out of the medical production facility and from the 
continuation of the ERP implementation.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements within the meaning of Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.  
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Contractual Obligations  

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations at December 31, 2003, and the effect such obligations are expected to 
have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods.  

 

(a) The current portion of these liabilities is included. Amounts do not include imputed interest. See Note 8 - Debt of the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K for additional information about our long-term obligations.  
(b) See Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K for additional information about our operating lease 
obligations.  
(c) Purchase orders or contracts for the purchase of raw materials and other goods and services are not included in the table above. For the 
purposes of this table, contractual obligations for purchase of goods or services are defined as agreements that are enforceable and legally 
binding on the Company and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or 
variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Our purchase orders are normally based on our current manufacturing 
needs and are fulfilled by our vendors within short time horizons. We enter into blanket orders with vendors that have preferred pricing and 
terms, however these orders are normally cancelable by us without penalty. We do not have significant agreements for the purchase of raw 
materials or other goods specifying minimum quantities or set prices that exceed our expected requirements in the short-term. We also enter 
into contracts for outsourced services; however, the obligations under these contracts were not significant and the contracts generally contain 
clauses allowing for cancellation without significant penalty.  

Inflation  

We do not believe that inflation has had a significant effect on our operations.  

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 
46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46 requires disclosures about variable interest entities for which it is reasonably 
possible that we will be required to consolidate or disclose information when the Interpretation becomes effective. The provisions of FIN 46 
are effective for us for the interim period ending April 2, 2004, or earlier in certain instances. Such instances did not have an effect on our 
consolidated financial statements in 2003. We have  
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                                         Payments d ue by period 
                                     -------------- --------------------------------------  
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS                 Total   Les s than 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5  
                                                  1  year                         years 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------  
Long-Term Debt Obligations (a): 
   Convertible Debentures              $170,000       $-         $-        $-   $170,000 
   Capital Lease Obligations              1,816      742        948       126          - 
Operating Lease Obligations (b)           4,006    3,810        196         -          - 
Purchase Obligations (c)                  2,750    2,750          -         -          - 
                                     -------------- --------------------------------------  
Total                                  $178,572   $ 7,302     $1,144      $126   $170,000 
                                     ============== ======================================  



determined that it is not reasonably possible that we will be required to consolidate or disclose information about a variable interest entity in 
2004. In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with 
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity (SFAS No. 150). SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures 
certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is 
within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified 
after May 31, 2003, except for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments subject to the provisions of this Statement. Subsequent to the 
issuance of SFAS No. 150, the FASB decided to revise the effective dates of the application of certain provisions of the statement. For 
mandatorily redeemable financial instruments that do not have a fixed redemption date or are not redeemable for a fixed or determinable 
amount the Board agreed to defer application for an indefinite period of time. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an effect on our 
consolidated financial statements in 2003. ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.  

Under our existing line of credit any borrowings bear interest at fluctuating market rates. At December 31, 2003, we did not have any 
borrowings outstanding under our line of credit and thus no interest rate sensitive financial instruments.  

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA   

The following consolidated financial statements of our Company and report of independent auditors thereon are set forth below.  

Independent Auditors' Report.  

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.  

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.  

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT  

Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc.  
Clarence, New York  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as 
of January 2, 2004 and January 3, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended January 2, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule at Item 15(a)(2). These financial 
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Wilson Greatbatch 
Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of January 2, 2004 and January 3, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended January 2, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements 
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.  

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other 
intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets."  

Buffalo, New York  
March 1, 2004  
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WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(IN THOUSANDS) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------  
 
ASSETS                                                       December 31, 
                                                                      2003            2002 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents                                       $119,486          $4,608 
  Short-term investments                                            11,559               - 
  Accounts receivable, net                                          23,726          19,310 
  Inventories                                                       28,598          34,908 
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets                          3,591           3,339 
  Refundable income taxes                                              583           3,038 
  Deferred income taxes                                              3,163           3,349 
  Asset available for sale                                           3,658               - 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
          Total current assets                                     194,364          68,552 
 
Property, plant, and equipment, net                                 63,735          64,699 
Intangible assets, net                                              51,441          55,804 
Goodwill                                                           119,521         119,407 
Deferred income taxes                                                2,896               - 
Other assets                                                         6,286           3,789 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
Total assets                                                      $438,243        $312,251 
                                                           ================ ===============  
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities: 
  Accounts payable                                                  $4,091          $5,726 
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities                    18,968          13,872 
  Current portion of long-term debt                                    850           8,750 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
           Total current liabilities                                23,909          28,348 
 
Long-term debt, net of current portion                                 928          76,250 
Convertible subordinated notes                                     170,000               - 
Deferred income taxes                                                7,251             136 
Other long-term liabilities                                            815             654 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
           Total liabilities                                       202,903         105,388 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13) 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Preferred stock                                                        -               - 
  Common stock                                                          21              21 
  Additional paid-in capital                                       207,969         202,279 
  Deferred stock-based compensation                                 (1,185)              - 
  Treasury stock, at cost                                             (179)           (863)  
  Retained earnings                                                 28,714           5,426 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
           Total stockholders' equity                              235,340         206,863 
                                                           ---------------- ---------------  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity                        $438,243        $312,251 
                                                           ================ ===============  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of thes e consolidated financial 
                                 statements 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------  
 
                                                            Year Ended December 31, 
                                                             2003        2002         2001 
 
Sales                                                    $216,365    $167,296     $135,575 
Cost of sales                                             126,537      96,398       74,716 
                                                     --------------------------------------  
       Gross profit                                        89,828      70,898       60,859 
Selling, general and administrative expenses               30,384      24,369       18,174 
Research, development and engineering costs, net           16,991      14,440       12,575 
Amortization of intangible assets                           3,217       3,702        7,726 
Other operating expense, net                                1,036       2,481          132 
                                                     --------------------------------------  
     Operating income                                      38,200      25,906       22,252 
Interest expense                                            4,101       3,752        4,011 
Interest income                                              (702)       (442)        (423)  
Other expense, net                                          1,485       1,631        4,886 
                                                     --------------------------------------  
     Income before income taxes                            33,316      20,965       13,778 
Provision for income taxes                                 10,028       6,604        5,181 
                                                     --------------------------------------  
     Net income                                           $23,288     $14,361       $8,597 
                                                     ======================================  
 
Earnings per share: 
     Basic                                                  $1.10       $0.69        $0.44 
     Diluted                                                $1.08       $0.68        $0.43 
 
Weighted average shares outstanding: 
     Basic                                                 21,149      20,941       19,563 
     Diluted                                               21,534      21,227       19,945 
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WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(IN THOUSANDS) 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
 
                                                                        Year Ended December 31, 
                                                                               2003          2002          2001 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net income                                                                $23,288       $14,361        $8,597 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to 
    net cash provided by operating activities: 
      Depreciation and amortization                                          13,179        12,100        14,241 
      Stock-based compensation                                                3,306         3,667         3,019 
      Loss on early extinguishment of debt                                    1,487             -         3,019 
      Write-off of noncompete agreement                                           -         1,723             - 
      Write-off of investment in unrelated company                                -         1,547             - 
      Deferred income taxes                                                   4,578         3,765         2,358 
      Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equi pment                      1,036           758           132 
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
    Accounts receivable                                                      (4,416)         (379)       (4,396)  
    Inventories                                                               5,822        (2,752)      (10,030)  
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                 2,335        (1,450)         (928)  
    Accounts payable                                                         (1,635)       (1,685)        3,025 
    Accrued expenses and other current liabilities                            5,797        (2,972)        1,741 
    Income taxes                                                                 24          (873)          677 
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
             Net cash provided by operating activit ies                       54,801        27,810        21,455 
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Purchase of short-term investments                                        (11,559)            -             - 
  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment                              (11,925)      (20,501)       (9,715)  
  Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipme nt                         2,734            14             5 
  Increase in intangible assets                                                   -             -          (574)  
  Decrease (increase) in other assets                                           107        (1,459)       (2,235)  
  Net cash effect of acquisitions                                                 -       (47,124)      (46,913)  
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
             Net cash used in investing activities                          (20,643)      (69,070)      (59,432)  
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt                                  170,000        32,000        87,000 
  Principal payments of long-term debt                                      (85,000)      (29,880)      (48,278)  
  Principal payments of capital lease obligations                              (434)            -             - 
  Payment of debt issue costs                                                (4,535)            -             - 
  Issuance of common stock                                                      868           476        42,511 
  Purchase of treasury stock                                                   (179)            -             - 
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
           Net cash provided by financing activitie s                         80,720         2,596        81,233 
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent s                        114,878       (38,664)       43,256 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year                                  4,608        43,272            16 
                                                                      -------------------------------- ----------  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year                                     $119,486        $4,608       $43,272 
                                                                      ================================ ==========  
 
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of th ese consolidated financial 
                                   statements 
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WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
(IN THOUSANDS) 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------  
 
                                                                      Capital    Deferred                     Retained 
                                                                     In Excess    Stock    Treasury           Earnings 
                                                     Common Stock     of Par      Based     Stock           (Accumulated  
                                                     -------------                         ----------- ----- 
                                                     Shares Amount     Value   Compensation Shares  Am ount    Deficit) 
 
 
Balance, December 31, 2000                           18,972   $19    $157,526           $-     261 $(4 ,179)    $(17,532)  
 
  Common stock issued                                 2,000     2      42,427            -       -       -            - 
  Shares contributed to ESOP                              -     -         843            -     (66)  1 ,057            - 
  Exercise of stock options                              11     -          84            -       -       -            - 
  Net income                                              -     -           -            -       -       -        8,597 
                                                     -------------   --------- ----------------------- ----- ------------  
Balance, December 31, 2001                           20,983    21     200,880            -     195  (3 ,122)      (8,935)  
 
  Common stock issuance expenses                          -     -         (39)           -       -       -            - 
  Shares contributed to ESOP                              -     -         761            -    (140)  2 ,254            - 
  Reissuance of treasury stock                            -     -           9            -      (1)      5            - 
  Exercise of stock options                              67     -         519            -       -       -            - 
  Tax benefit of non-qualifed stock option exercise s      -     -         149            -       -       -            - 
  Net income                                              -     -           -            -       -       -       14,361 
                                                     -------------   --------- ----------------------- ----- ------------  
Balance, December 31, 2002                           21,050    21     202,279            -      54    (863)       5,426 
 
  Common stock issued                                     -     -       1,768       (1,768)      -       -            - 
  Shares contributed to ESOP                             90     -       2,804            -     (54)    863            - 
  Purchase of treasury stock                              -     -           -            -       5    (179)           - 
  Exercise of stock options                              77     -         868            -       -       -            - 
  Tax benefit of non-qualifed stock option exercise s      -     -         250            -       -       -            - 
   Stock based compensation                              14     -           -          583       -       -            - 
  Net income                                              -     -           -            -       -       -       23,288 
                                                     --------------- --------- ----------------------- ----- ------------  
Balance, December 31, 2003                           21,231   $21    $207,969      $(1,185)      5   $ (179)     $28,714 
                                                     =============   ========= ======================= ===== ============  
 
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of the se consolidated financial 
                                  statements 



WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS  

The Company - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company"). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Nature of Operations - The Company operates in two reportable segments-Implantable Medical Components ("IMC") and Electrochem Power 
Solutions ("EPS"). The IMC segment designs and manufactures batteries, capacitors, filtered feedthroughs, engineered components and 
enclosures used in IMDs. The EPS segment designs and manufactures high performance batteries and battery packs for use in oil and gas 
exploration, oceanographic equipment and aerospace.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Financial Statement Year End - The Company utilizes a fifty-two, fifty-three week fiscal year ending on the Friday nearest December 31st. For 
clarity of presentation, the Company describes all periods as if the year-end is December 31st. Fiscal 2002 included 53 weeks.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid, short-term investments with maturities at the time of 
purchase of three months or less.  

Short-term Investments - Short-term investments are those investments acquired with maturities that exceed three months and are less than one 
year at the time of acquisition. Securities that the Company has the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity are accounted for as held-to-
maturity securities and are carried at amortized cost. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.  

Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in, first-out method, or market.  

Assets Available for Sale - Assets available for sale are accounted for at the lower of the carrying amount or each asset's estimated fair value 
less costs to sell.  

Property, Plant and Equipment - Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost. Depreciation is computed primarily by the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are as follows: buildings and building improvements 7-40 years; machinery and 
equipment 3-10 years; office equipment 3-10 years; and leasehold improvements over the remaining lives of the improvements or the lease 
term, if less.  

The cost of repairs and maintenance is charged to expense as incurred; renewals and betterments are capitalized. Upon retirement or sale of an  
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asset, its cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is recorded in income 
or expense.  

Goodwill - Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142). SFAS No. 142 addresses the financial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible 
assets with indefinite lives. At adoption, the Company reassessed the useful lives of trademarks and names and deemed them to have an 
indefinite life because they are expected to generate cash flows indefinitely. Note 14 - Business Segment information contains an analysis of 
goodwill by segment.  

Goodwill and trademark and names are no longer amortized but are periodically tested for impairment. An analysis of the proforma effects of 
these standards had the adoption occurred as of the beginning of fiscal 2001 is included in Note 6 - Intangible Assets.  

SFAS No. 142 requires the Company to assess goodwill for impairment by comparing the fair value of the reporting units to their carrying 
amounts on an annual basis, or more frequently if certain events occur or circumstances change, to determine if there is potential impairment. If 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the implied fair value of the 
goodwill within the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. Fair values for goodwill are determined based on discounted cash flows, 
market multiples or appraised values as appropriate. The Company has determined that, based on the goodwill impairment test, no impairment 
of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets has occurred.  

Intangible Assets - Acquired intangible assets apart from goodwill and trademark and names consist primarily of patented and unpatented 
technology. The Company continues to amortize its definite-lived assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:  
patented technology, 8-17 years; unpatented technology, 5-15 years; and other intangible assets, 3-10 years.  

The Company tests long-lived assets, exclusive of goodwill, for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of long-lived assets is not recoverable and 
exceeds its fair value based on the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The fair value of financial instruments is determined by reference to various market data and other 
valuation techniques, as appropriate. Unless otherwise disclosed, the fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their recorded values 
due to the nature of the instruments.  

Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally 
of trade receivables. A significant portion of the Company's sales are to customers in the medical device industry, and, as such, the Company is 
directly affected by the condition of that industry. However, the credit  
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risk associated with trade receivables is minimal due to the Company's stable customer base. The Company maintains cash deposits with major 
banks, which from time to time may exceed federally insured limits.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - The Company provides credit, in the normal course of business, to its customers. The Company also 
maintains an allowance for doubtful customer accounts and charges actual losses against this allowance when incurred.  

Stock-Based Compensation - The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123). As permitted in that standard, the Company has chosen to 
account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board No. 25, Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations.  

The Company has determined the pro forma information as if the Company had accounted for stock options granted under the fair value 
method of SFAS No.  
123. The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used with the following weighted average assumptions. These pro forma calculations assume 
the common stock is freely tradable for all years presented and, as such, the impact is not necessarily indicative of the effects on reported net 
income of future years.  
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                                                          Year Ended December 31, 
                                                            2003         2002          2001 
 
Risk-free interest rate                                     2.75%        3.79%         5.00%  
Expected volatility                                           55%          55%           55%  
Expected life (in years)                                       5            5             7 
Expected dividend yield                                        0%           0%            0%  



The Company's net income and earnings per share as if the fair value based method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in 
each year is as follows (in thousands except per share data):  

 

Income Taxes - The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized 
based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities using the anticipated tax rate when taxes 
are expected to be paid or reversed.  

Revenue Recognition - Revenue from the sale of products is recognized at the time product is shipped to customers. The Company allows 
customers to return defective or damaged products for credit, replacement, or exchange. Revenue is recognized as the net amount to be 
received after deducting estimated amounts for product returns and allowances.  

Product Warranties - The Company generally warrants that its products will meet customer specifications and will be free from defects in 
materials and workmanship. The Company accrues its estimated exposure to warranty claims based upon recent historical experience and other 
specific information as it becomes available.  

Research and Development - Research, development and engineering costs are expensed as incurred.  

Engineering Costs - Engineering expenses are expensed as incurred. Cost reimbursements for engineering services from customers for whom 
the Company designs products are recorded as an offset to engineering costs upon achieving development milestones.  
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                                                        Year Ended December 31, 
                                                              2003         2002          2001  
 
Net income as reported                                     $23,288      $14,361        $8,597  
Stock based employee compensation cost included in net 
 income as reported                                         $2,311       $2,512        $1,884  
Stock-based employee compensation cost determined u sing 
 the fair value based method, net of related tax ef fects    $4,054       $2,972        $2,601  
Pro forma net income                                       $21,545      $13,901        $7,880  
 
Net earnings per share: 
    Basic - as reported                                      $1.10        $0.69         $0.44  
    Basic - pro forma                                        $1.02        $0.66         $0.40  
 
    Diluted - as reported                                    $1.08        $0.68         $0.43  
    Diluted - pro forma                                      $1.00        $0.65         $0.40  



Net research, development and engineering costs are as follows (in thousands):  

 

Earnings Per Share - Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting for common stock equivalents, which consist of stock options and 
unvested restricted stock. Holders of our convertible notes may convert them into shares of the Company's common stock under certain 
circumstances (see Note 8 - Debt for a description of our convertible subordinated notes). For computation of earnings per share under 
conversion conditions, the number of diluted shares outstanding will increase by the amount of shares that are potentially convertible during 
that period. Also, net income will be adjusted for the calculation to add back interest expense on the convertible notes as well as deferred 
financing fees amortization recorded during the period.  

The following table reflects the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):  
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                                                      Year Ended December 31, 
                                                     2003      2002      2001 
 
Research and development costs                     $9,446    $7,156    $6,728 
                                                --- ---------------------------  
 
Engineering costs                                   8,649     8,882     8,323 
Less cost reimbursements                           (1,104)   (1,598)   (2,476)  
                                                --- ---------------------------  
Engineering costs, net                              7,545     7,284     5,847 
                                                --- ---------------------------  
Total research and development and engineering 
 costs, net                                       $ 16,991   $14,440   $12,575 
                                                === ===========================  

                                                      2003      2002      2001 
                                                --- ----------------------------  
Earnings per share - basic 
------------------------------------------------ 
    Earnings available to common shareholders      $23,288   $14,361    $8,597 
    Weighted average shares outstanding             21,149    20,941    19,563 
    Earnings per share - basic                       $1.10     $0.69     $0.44 
                                                === ============================  
 
Earnings per share - diluted 
------------------------------------------------ 
    Earnings available to common shareholders      $23,288   $14,361    $8,597 
    Weighted average shares outstanding             21,149    20,941    19,563 
    Dilutive impact of options outstanding & 
      unvested restricted stock                        385       286       382 
                                                --- ----------------------------  
    Weighted average shares and potential 
      dilutive shares outstanding                   21,534    21,227    19,945 
    Earnings per share - diluted                     $1.08     $0.68     $0.43 
                                                === ============================  



Comprehensive Income - Comprehensive income includes all changes in stockholders' equity during a period except those resulting from 
investments by owners and distribution to owners. For all periods presented, the Company's only component of comprehensive income is its 
net income for those periods.  

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of sales and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.  

Supplemental Cash Flow Information (in thousands):  

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements -- In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 
46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46 requires disclosures about variable interest entities for which it is reasonably possible 
that we will be required to consolidate or disclose information when the Interpretation becomes effective. The provisions of FIN 46 are 
effective for the Company for the interim period ending April 2, 2004, or earlier in certain instances. Such instances did not have an effect on 
the Company's consolidated financial statements in 2003. The Company has determined that it is not reasonably possible that it will be required 
to consolidate or disclose information about a variable interest entity in 2004.  

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with 
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity (SFAS No. 150). SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures 
certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is 
within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified 
after May 31, 2003, except for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments subject to the provisions of this Statement. Subsequent to the 
issuance of SFAS No. 150, the FASB decided to revise the effective dates of the application of certain provisions of the statement. For 
mandatorily redeemable financial instruments that do not have a fixed redemption date or are not redeemable for a fixed or determinable 
amount the Board agreed to defer application for an indefinite period of time. The adoption of 150 did not have an effect on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements in 2003.  
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                                                       2003       2002       2001  
Cash paid during the year for: 
  Interest                                           $3,740     $3,092     $3,717  
  Income taxes                                        5,674      6,055      2,214  
 
Noncash investing and financing activities: 
  Acquisition of property utilizing capitalized 
   leases                                            $2,212         $-         $-  
  Common stock contributed to ESOP                    3,667      3,019      1,902  



Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications were made to the prior years' financial statements to conform with the current year presentation. 
None of the reclassifications affected net income (loss) or stockholders' equity.  

The Company adopted SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB 13, and Technical 
Corrections," at the beginning of fiscal year 2003. Under SFAS No. 145, the Company no longer classifies debt extinguishments as 
extraordinary items in the consolidated financial statements, subject to limited exceptions. Accordingly, amounts previously classified as 
extraordinary related to debt extinguishments in fiscal 2001 have been reclassified as components of income before income taxes.  

3. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS  

Short-term investments at December 31, 2003, consist of investments acquired with maturities that exceed three months and are less than one 
year at the time of acquisition. Held-to-maturity securities comprised the following (in thousands):  

 

The municipal bonds have maturity dates ranging from January 2004 to April 2004. There were no short-term investments as of December 31, 
2002.  

4. INVENTORIES  

Inventories comprised the following (in thousands):  
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                               As of December 31, 2 003 
                                  Cost        Gross          Gross     Estimated fair 
                                            unreali zed    unrealized       value 
                                               gain s        losses 
Municipal Bonds                    $11,559           $-           $(1)       $11,558 
                              --------------------- ----------------------------------  
Short-term investments             $11,559           $-           $(1)       $11,558 
                              ===================== ==================================  

                                                   December 31, 
                                                200 3        2002 
 
Raw material                                  $11,6 88     $15,693 
Work-in-process                                10,4 21      13,592 
Finished goods                                  6,4 89       5,623 
                                              ----- ---    --------  
Total                                         $28,5 98     $34,908 
                                              ===== ===    ========  



5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Property, plant and equipment comprised the following (in thousands):  

 

Depreciation expense during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately $9,390,000, $7,610,000, and $5,917,000, respectively.  

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Intangible assets comprised the following (in thousands):  

 

Estimated amortization expense for years subsequent to 2003 are as follows (in thousands):  
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                                                     December 31, 
                                                        2003     2002 
 
Manufacturing machinery and equipment                $53,313  $48,384 
Buildings and building improvements                   15,380   14,752 
Information technology hardware and software           7,384    6,621 
Leasehold improvements                                 5,440    4,819 
Land and land improvements                             4,659    4,659 
Furniture and fixtures                                 2,631    2,496 
Construction work in process                           8,595    8,778 
Other                                                    148      308 
                                                     -------- --------  
                                                      97,550   90,817 
Less accumulated depreciation                        (33,815) (26,118)  
                                                     -------- --------  
Total                                                $63,735  $64,699 
                                                     ======== ========  

                            As of December 31,            As of December 31, 2002 
                                    2003 
                            Gross   Accumulated    Net      Gross    Accumulated  Net carrying 
                            carrying amortization c arrying carrying   amortization    Amount 
                             amount                Amount    amount 
Amortizing intangible 
 assets: 
   Patented technology      $21,875      $(8,949) $ 12,926    $21,875      $(7,015)     $14,860 
   Unpatented technology     15,335       (5,549)   9,786     15,335       (3,615)      11,720 
   Other                      7,740       (7,196)     544      7,740       (6,701)       1,039 
                           ------------------------ --------------------------------------------  
                             44,950      (21,694)  23,256     44,950      (17,331)      27,619 
Unamortizing intangible 
 assets: 
   Trademark and names       31,420       (3,235)  28,185     31,420       (3,235)      28,185 
                           ------------------------ --------------------------------------------  
Total intangible assets     $76,370     $(24,929) $ 51,441    $76,370     $(20,566)     $55,804 
                           ======================== ============================================  

2004       $2,843  
2005        2,361  
2006        2,332  
2007        2,314  
2008        2,314  



The following table reflects consolidated results for 2001, with data adjusted as though the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets, had occurred as of the beginning of 2001 (in thousands except per share amounts):  

 

7. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities comprised the following (in thousands):  
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                                                      Year Ended 
                                                      December 31, 
                                                                 2001 
 
Reported net income                                            $8,597 
                                                 -- -------------------  
Add back to reported net income: 
   Goodwill amortization, net of tax                            1,339 
   Assembled workforce amortization, net of tax                   397 
   Trademark and names amortization, net of tax                   506 
                                                 -- -------------------  
                                                                2,242 
                                                 -- -------------------  
Adjusted net income                                           $10,839 
                                                 == ===================  
 
Basic earnings per share: 
   Reported net income                                          $0.44 
   Adjusted net income                                          $0.55 
 
Diluted earnings per share: 
   Reported net income                                          $0.43 
   Adjusted net income                                          $0.54 

                                                                    December 31, 
                                                               2003              2002 
 
Salaries and benefits                                        $5,170            $5,302 
Profit sharing and bonuses                                    9,589             5,164 
Other                                                         4,209             3,406 
                                                       -------------    --------------  
Total                                                       $18,968           $13,872 
                                                       =============    ==============  



8.  

DEBT  

Long-term debt comprised the following (in thousands):  

 

Convertible Subordinated Notes  

In May 2003, the Company completed a private placement of contingent convertible subordinated notes totaling $170.0 million, due 2013. In 
November 2003 the Company had a Registration Statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective with respect to 
these notes and the underlying common stock. The notes bear interest at 2.25 percent per annum, payable semiannually. Beginning with the 
six-month interest period commencing June 15, 2010, the Company will pay additional contingent interest during any six-month interest period 
if the trading price of the notes for each of the five trading days immediately preceding the first day of the interest period equals or exceeds 
120% of the principal amount of the notes.  

Holders may convert the notes into shares of the Company's common stock at a conversion rate of 24.8219 shares per $1,000 principal amount 
of notes, subject to adjustment, before the close of business on June 15, 2013 only under the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal 
quarter commencing after July 4, 2003, if the closing sale price of the Company's common stock exceeds 120% of the conversion price for at 
least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter; (2) subject to 
certain exceptions, during the five business days after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal 
amount of the notes for each day of such period was less than 98% of the product of the closing sale price of the Company's common stock and 
the number of shares issuable upon conversion of $1,000 principal amount of the notes; (3) if the notes have been called for redemption; or (4) 
upon the occurrence of certain corporate events.  

Beginning June 20, 2010, the Company may redeem any of the notes at a redemption price of 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued 
interest. Note holders may require the Company to repurchase their notes on June 15, 2010 or at any time prior to their maturity following a 
fundamental change at a repurchase price of 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued interest. The notes are subordinated in right of 
payment to all of our senior indebtedness and effectively subordinated to all debts and other liabilities of our subsidiaries.  
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                                                               December 31, 
                                                          2003            2002 
 
2.25% convertible subordinated notes, due 2013        $170,000              $- 
Capital lease obligations                                1,778               - 
Term loan                                                    -          85,000 
                                                  - ------------   -------------  
                                                       171,778          85,000 
Less current portion                                      (850)         (8,750)  
                                                  - ------------   -------------  
Total long-term debt                                   $170,928         $76,250  
                                                  = ============   =============  



Concurrent with the issuance of the notes, the Company used approximately $72.5 million of the proceeds from this private placement to pay 
off the term loan. Debt issuance expenses totaled $4.5 million and are being amortized using the effective yield method over a seven-year term. 

The fair-value of the convertible subordinated notes as of December 31, 2003 was $212.5 million based on quoted market prices.  

Capital Lease Obligations  

The Company leases assets under non-cancelable lease arrangements. As of December 31, 2003, future minimum lease payments under capital 
leases are as follows:  

 

Revolving Line of Credit  

As of December 31, 2003 the Company had no balance outstanding on its $20.0 million committed revolving line of credit. The revolving line 
of credit continues to be available to the Company for future borrowing and matures on July 1, 2005. The revolving line of credit is secured by 
the Company's accounts receivable and inventories and requires the Company to comply with various quarterly financial covenants, as defined, 
related to net earnings or loss before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization ("EBITDA"), and ratios of leverage, interest, fixed charges, 
and capitalization as they relate to EBITDA. Interest rates under the revolving line of credit vary with the Company's leverage. The Company 
is required to pay a commitment fee of between .50% and .125% per annum on the unused portion of the revolving line of credit based on the 
Company's leverage.  

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  

Employee Stock Ownership Plan - The Company sponsors a non-leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan (``ESOP'') and related trust as a 
long-term benefit for substantially all of its employees. Under the terms of the ESOP plan document there is a defined contribution equal to 
five percent of each employee's annual compensation. This contribution is contributed to the ESOP in the form of Company stock. The ESOP 
is subject to contribution limitations as defined in the plan. Compensation cost under the ESOP  
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(In thousands)                                              Amount 
--------------------------------------------------- ----- -------------  
 
2004                                                             $742 
2005                                                              948 
2006                                                              126 
                                                         -------------  
Total minimum lease payments                                    1,816 
Less imputed interest                                             (38)  
                                                         -------------  
Present value of minimum lease payments                         1,778 
Less current portion                                             (850)  
                                                         -------------  
Long-term capital lease obligations                              $928 
                                                         =============  



recognized by the Company for the defined contribution was approximately $2.7 million, $2.3 million, and $1.8 million in 2003, 2002 and 
2001, respectively.  

Savings Plan - The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan, which covers substantially all of its employees. The plan provides 
for the deferral of employee compensation under Section 401(k) and a Company match. Net costs related to this defined contribution plan were 
approximately $847,000, $718,000 and $622,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

Education Assistance Program - The Company reimburses tuition, textbooks and laboratory fees for college or other lifelong learning programs 
for all of its employees. The Company also reimburses college tuition for the dependent children of its full-time employees. For certain 
employees, the dependent children benefit vests on a straight-line basis over ten years. Minimum academic achievement is required in order to 
receive reimbursement under both programs. Aggregate expenses under the programs were approximately $669,000, $621,000 and $460,000 in 
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

10. STOCK OPTION PLANS  

The Company has stock option plans that provide for the issuance of nonqualified and incentive stock options to employees of the Company. 
The Company's 1997 Stock Option Plan (``1997 Plan'') authorizes the issuance of options to purchase up to 480,000 shares of the Company's 
common stock. The stock options generally vest over a five-year period and may vary depending upon the achievement of earnings targets. The 
stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant. Stock options are granted at exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair market 
value of the Company's common stock at the date of the grant.  

The Company's 1998 Stock Option Plan (``1998 Plan'') authorizes the issuance of nonqualified and incentive stock options to purchase up to 
1,220,000 shares the Company's common stock, subject to the terms of the plan. The stock options vest over a three to five year period and may 
vary depending upon the achievement of earnings targets. The stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant. Stock options are 
granted at exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair value of the Company's common stock at the date of the grant.  

The Company has a stock option plan that provides for the issuance of nonqualified stock options to Non-Employee Directors (the "Director 
Plan"). The Director Plan authorizes the issuance of nonqualified stock options to purchase up to 100,000 shares of the Company's common 
stock from its treasury, subject to the terms of the plan. The stock options vest over a three-year period. The stock options expire 10 years from 
the date of grant. Stock options are granted at exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair value of the Company's common stock at the date 
of the grant.  

As of December 31, 2003, options for 472,211 shares were available for future grants under the plans. The weighted average remaining 
contractual life is seven years.  
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A summary of the transactions under the 1997 Plan, 1998 Plan, and the Director Plan for 2001, 2002 and 2003 follows:  

 

The following table provides detail regarding the options outstanding at December 31, 2003.  
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                                                           Weighted      Weighted 
                                                           Average       Average 
                                            Option         Exercise     Grant Date  
                                           Activity          Price       Fair Value  
                                         ---------- ---  --------------  ----------  
 
Options outstanding at December 31, 2000      590,6 85           $8.70 
  Options granted                             101,9 34           26.06       $16.02  
  Options exercised                           (11,3 40)           6.06 
  Options forfeited                           (14,9 60)           9.58 
                                         ---------- --- 
 
Options outstanding at December 31, 2001      666,3 19          $11.38 
  Options granted                             344,7 74           24.97       $12.22  
  Options exercised                           (67,7 83)           7.77 
  Options forfeited                           (67,6 61)          12.78 
                                         ---------- --- 
 
Options outstanding at December 31, 2002      875,6 49          $16.92 
  Options granted                             367,3 60           33.43       $16.51  
  Options exercised                           (77,0 94)          11.14 
  Options forfeited                           (23,0 15)          25.20 
                                         ---------- --- 
Options outstanding at December 31, 2003    1,142,9 00          $22.18 
                                         ========== === 
 
Options exercisable at: 
  December 31, 2002                           451,0 37           12.09 
  December 31, 2003                           657,4 52           17.39 

                                            Number 
Range of Exercise Prices                 Outstandin g 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
 
$5.00                                                         226,391 
$15.00 - 20.64                                                178,423 
$23.85 - 35.70                                                691,469 
$37.51 - 37.81                                                 46,617 
                                                          ------------  
                                                            1,142,900 
                                                          ============  



11. RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN  

On November 15, 2002, the Company's Board of Directors approved the Restricted Stock Plan under which stock awards may be granted to 
employees. The Plan received shareholder approval at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 9, 2003. The number of shares that are 
reserved and may be issued under the plan cannot exceed 200,000. The Compensation and Organization Committee of the Company's Board of 
Directors determines the number of shares that may be granted under the plan. Restricted stock awards are either time-vested or performance-
vested based on the terms of each individual award agreement. Time-vested restricted stock vests 50% on the first anniversary of the date of the 
award and 50% on the second anniversary of the date of the award. Performance-vested restricted stock vests upon the achievement of certain 
annual diluted earnings per share targets by the company, or the seventh anniversary date of the award.  

There were 50,400 shares granted to certain officers and key employees under the terms of the plan. 13,500 shares of restricted stock fully 
vested as of December 31, 2003. Unamortized deferred compensation expense with respect to the restricted stock grants amounted to 
$1,185,000 at December 31, 2003 and is being amortized based on the vesting schedules attributable to the underlying restricted stock grants. 
Compensation expense of $583,000 was recognized during 2003.  

12. INCOME TAXES  

The components of the provision for income taxes comprised the following (in thousands):  
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                                                         Year Ended December 31, 
                                                          2003       2002         2001 
Federal: 
  Current                                               $4,820     $2,573       $2,081 
  Deferred                                               7,363      4,137        2,365 
                                                  - ------------------------------------  
                                                        12,183      6,710        4,446 
                                                  - ------------------------------------  
State:                                                       -          -            - 
  Current                                                  630        266          742 
  Deferred                                              (2,785)      (372)          (7)  
                                                  - ------------------------------------  
                                                        (2,155)      (106)         735 
                                                  - ------------------------------------  
Provision for income taxes                             $10,028     $6,604       $5,181 
                                                  = ====================================  



The tax effect of major temporary differences that give rise to the Company's net deferred tax accounts are as follows (in thousands):  

 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers, within each taxing jurisdiction, whether it is more likely than not 
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, 
projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the consideration of the weight of both 
positive and negative evidence, management has determined that it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset remaining at 
December 31, 2003 related to the valuation of an investment will not be realized.  

The provision for income taxes differs in each of the years from the federal statutory rate due to the following:  
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                                                     December 31, 
                                                          2003           2002 
 
Depreciation                                           $(4,776)       $(4,809)  
Contingent interest on convertible notes                (2,575)             - 
Amortization of intangible assets                       (1,118)         1,969 
Tax credits                                              2,779          2,298 
Accrued expenses and deferred compensation               2,226          1,607 
Inventory valuation                                      1,745          2,019 
Investments                                                565            565 
Net operating loss carryforwards                           433             38 
Other                                                       94             91 
                                                    -----------   ------------  
Net deferred tax (liability) asset                        (627)         3,778 
Less valuation allowance                                  (565)          (565)  
                                                    -----------   ------------  
Net deferred tax (liability) asset                     $(1,192)        $3,213 
                                                    ===========   ============  

                                                       Year Ended December 31, 
                                                         2003      2002       2001 
 
Statutory rate                                           35.0 %    35.0 %     35.0 %  
State taxes, net of federal benefit                       2.0       3.3        2.9 
Permanent items from tax planning                        (6.8)        -          - 
Federal and state tax credits                            (2.1)    (10.7)         - 
Valuation allowance                                         -       2.7          - 
Other                                                     2.0       1.2       (0.3) 
                                                   -------------------------------- 
Effective tax rate                                       30.1 %    31.5 %     37.6 %  
                                                   ================================ 



13. CAPITAL STOCK  

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $.001 par value per share and 100,000,000 
shares of preferred stock, $.001 par value per share. There are no preferred shares issued or outstanding. There were 21,231,121 and 
21,049,805 shares issued in 2003 and 2002, respectively. There were 21,226,357 and 20,996,115 shares outstanding in 2003 and 2002, 
respectively.  

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

The Company is a party to various legal actions arising in the normal course of business. The Company does not believe that the ultimate 
resolution of any such pending activities will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash 
flows.  

The Company is a party to various license agreements through 2018 for technology that is utilized in certain of its products. The most 
significant of these is an agreement to license the basic technology used for wet tantalum capacitors. The initial payment under the original 
agreement was $800,000 and was fully amortized in 2002. The company is required to pay royalties based on agreed upon terms through 
August 2014.  

The Company is also subject to a license agreement covering the exclusive use of a patent for a hybrid electrode until December 2016. The 
initial payment under this agreement was $100,000 and will be fully amortized in 2004. The Company is required to pay royalties based on the 
selling price of products that incorporate such licensed technology.  

Expenses related to license agreements were $1,531,000, $1,367,000 and $317,000 for 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.  

Product Warranties - The change in aggregate product warranty liability for the year ended December 31, 2003, is as follows (dollars in 
thousands):  

 

Operating Leases - The Company is a party to various operating lease agreements for buildings, equipment and software. The Company 
incurred operating lease expense of $1,716,000, $928,000 and $909,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

If all lease extension options are exercised as expected by the Company, minimum future annual operating lease payments are $1,815,000 in 
2004; $1,391,000 in 2005; $604,000 in 2006; $196,000 in 2007; and $0 in 2008.  
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Beginning balance                                                $402 
Additions to warranty reserve                                     377 
Warranty claims paid                                             (466)  
                                                            ----------  
Ending balance                                                   $313 
                                                            ==========  



15. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION  

The Company operates its business in two reportable segments: IMC and EPS. The IMC segment designs and manufactures batteries for 
devices in the cardiac rhythm management ("CRM") industry including implantable cardioverter defibrillators ("ICDs"), pacemakers, cardiac 
resynchronization therapy ("CRT") and other medical devices; capacitors for ICDs, filtered feedthroughs, engineered components and 
enclosures used in IMDs. The EPS segment designs and manufactures high performance batteries for use in oil and gas exploration, 
oceanographic equipment, and aerospace.  

The Company's IMC segment includes multiple business units that have been aggregated because they share similar economic characteristics 
and similarities in the areas of products, production processes, types of customers, methods of distribution and regulatory environment. The 
reportable segments are separately managed, and their performance is evaluated based on numerous factors, including income from operations.  

The Company defines segment income from operations as gross profit less costs and expenses attributable to segment specific selling, general 
and administrative and research, development and engineering expenses, and intangible amortization. In 2003, segment income also includes a 
portion of non-segment specific selling, general and administrative and research, development and engineering expenses based on allocation 
bases appropriate to the expense categories. The remaining unallocated operating expenses along with other income and expense are not 
allocated to reportable segments. This change is not reflected in the 2002 or 2001 calculation of segment income from operations because it is 
impractical to do so. The allocation of expenses to segments in 2003 does not change the composition of the reportable segments; the change is 
only a revision to the calculation of segment income from operations. Transactions between the two segments are not significant. The 
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described and referenced in Note 2.  
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An analysis and reconciliation of the Company's business segment information to the respective information in the consolidated financial 
statements is as follows (dollars in thousands):  
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                                                Yea r Ended December 31, 
                                                       2003           2002            2001 
Sales: 
  IMC 
    Medical batteries: 
      ICDs                                          $41,494        $28,518         $22,215 
      Pacemakers                                     22,535         20,354          22,923 
      Other devices                                   3,662          3,035             722 
      Royalties                                           -              -             991 
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
    Total medical batteries                          67,691         51,907          46,851 
    Capacitors                                       31,668         24,679          20,290 
    Other components                                 90,862         65,315          40,513 
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
  Total IMC sales                                   190,221        141,901         107,654 
  EPS                                                26,144         25,395          27,921 
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
Total sales                                        $216,365       $167,296        $135,575 
                                             ====== ========================================  
 
Segment income from operations: 
  IMC                                               $43,504        $40,969         $39,008 
  EPS                                                 4,374          8,262           8,796 
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
  Total segment income from operations               47,878         49,231          47,804 
  Unallocated operating expenses                     (9,678)       (23,325)        (25,552)  
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
  Operating income as reported                       38,200         25,906          22,252 
  Unallocated other income and expense               (4,884)        (4,941)         (8,474)  
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
  Income before income taxes as reported            $33,316        $20,965         $13,778 
                                             ====== ========================================  
 
Depreciation and amortization: 
  IMC                                               $10,809        $10,090         $12,440 
  EPS                                                   854            807             778 
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
  Total depreciation included in segment 
    income from operations                           11,663         10,897          13,218 
  Unallocated depreciation and amortization           1,516          1,203           1,023 
                                             ------ ----------------------------------------  
  Total depreciation and amortization               $13,179        $12,100         $14,241 
                                             ====== ========================================  



 

Sales by geographic area are presented by attributing sales from external customers based on where the products are shipped. All dollars are in 
thousands.  
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows (amounts in thousands): 
 
                                                    IMC            EPS          Total 
Balance at December 31, 2002                        $116,841         $2,566     $119,407 
Adjustment recorded during the year                      114              -          114 
                                              ----- --------------------------------------  
Balance at December 31, 2003                        $116,955         $2,566     $119,521 
                                              ===== ======================================  
 
                                                 Ye ar Ended December 31, 
                                                        2003           2002         2001 
Expenditures for tangible long-lived assets, 
  excluding acquisitions: 
  IMC                                                 $6,924         $6,616       $7,074 
  EPS                                                    693          1,119          504 
                                              ----- --------------------------------------  
    Total reportable segments                          7,617          7,735        7,578 
    Unallocated long-lived tangible assets             4,308         12,766        2,137 
                                              ----- --------------------------------------  
  Total expenditures                                 $11,925        $20,501       $9,715 
                                              ===== ======================================  
 
                                               Dece mber 31, 
                                                        2003           2002 
Identifiable assets, net: 
  IMC                                               $250,642       $256,313 
  EPS                                                 20,817         22,385 
                                              ----- ------------------------- 
  Total reportable segments                          271,459        278,698 
  Unallocated assets                                 166,784         33,553 
                                              ----- ------------------------- 
  Total assets                                      $438,243       $312,251 
                                              ===== ========================= 

                                                    Year Ended December 31, 
                                                  2 003           2002           2001 
Sales by geographic area: 
  United States                               $140, 578       $127,145        $92,391 
  Foreign countries                             75, 787         40,151         43,184 
                                          --------- ----------------------------------  
  Consolidated sales                          $216, 365       $167,296       $135,575 
                                          ========= ==================================  
 
                                          December 31, 
                                                  2 003           2002 
Long-lived assets: 
  United States                               $243, 879       $243,699 
  Foreign countries                                  -              - 
                                          --------- ------------------- 
  Consolidated long-lived assets              $243, 879       $243,699 
                                          ========= =================== 



Two customers accounted for a significant portion of the Company's sales and accounts receivable as follows:  

 

16. ACQUISITIONS  

During 2001 and 2002, the Company completed two acquisitions as follows:  

o Substantially all of the assets of the Sierra-KD Components division of Maxwell Technologies, Inc. (Sierra), a developer and manufacturer of 
electromagnetic interference filtering capacitors for implantable medical devices.  

o Globe Tool and Manufacturing Company, Inc. (Globe Tool), a manufacturer of precision titanium enclosures for implantable medical 
devices. Globe Tool was acquired to further broaden our product offering to include enclosures.  

These acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the results of the operations of these 
acquisitions have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.  
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                          Sales                         Accounts Receivable 
                        ---------------------------     ---------------------  
                          Year Ended December 31,          December 31, 
                            2003     2002     2001         2003        2002 
 
Customer A                    46%      41%      39%           31%         34%  
Customer B                    20%      25%      27%           19%         18%  
                        ---------------------------     ---------------------  
Total                         66%      66%      66%           50%         52%  
                        ===========================     =====================  



Acquisition information (in thousands):  

 

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents the Company's consolidated results of operations for 2002 and 2001 as if the acquisitions 
had been consummated at January 1, 2001. The pro forma consolidated results of operations include certain pro forma adjustments, including 
the amortization of intangible assets and interest on a term loan.  

 

The proforma results are not necessarily indicative of those that would have actually occurred had the acquisitions taken place at the beginning 
of the periods presented.  
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                                                            Acquired Company 
                                                     ------------------------------  
                                                         Sierra        Globe Tool 
                                                     --------------  --------------  
 
Acquisition date                                     June 18, 2001    July 9, 2002 
 
Purchase price: 
   Cash paid                                               $46,656         $46,637 
   Transaction costs                                           257             487 
                                                     --------------  --------------  
       Total purchase price                                $46,913         $47,124 
                                                     ==============  ==============  
 
Purchase price allocation: 
   Property and equipment                                    4,124           8,490 
   Assets/(Liabilities)                                      3,288          (7,079)  
   Trademark and names                                           -           1,760 
   Patented Technology                                       8,445               - 
   Unpatented Technology                                     4,743           7,392 
   Noncompete/Employment Agreements                              -           1,177 
   Goodwill                                                 26,313          35,384 
                                                     --------------  --------------  
       Total purchase price                                $46,913         $47,124 
                                                     ==============  ==============  

                                                                  December 31, 
In thousands except per share amounts:                        2002              2001  
 
Revenues                                                  $178,159          $162,190  
Net income                                                 $15,298            $8,482  
Net income per diluted share:                                $0.73             $0.43  



17.  

QUARTERLY SALES AND EARNINGS DATA - UNAUDITED  

 

******  
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                                                     (In Thousands, except per share data)  
                                         4th Qtr.   3rd Qtr.   2nd Qtr.     1st Qtr. 
 
2003 
Sales                                      $49,371    $56,335    $55,802    $54,857 
Gross profit                                19,838     23,960     23,217     22,813 
Net income                                   4,523      7,776      4,952      6,037 
Earnings per share - basic                    0.21       0.37       0.23       0.29 
Earnings per share - diluted                  0.21       0.36       0.23       0.28 
 
2002 
Sales                                      $47,315    $45,350    $38,328    $36,303 
Gross profit                                20,475     18,872     15,599     15,952 
Net income                                   4,959      2,477      3,586      3,339 
Earnings per share - basic                    0.24       0.12       0.17       0.16 
Earnings per share - diluted                  0.23       0.12       0.17       0.16 



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures.  

a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the 
Company's management including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation 
of our "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15(e)). Based upon that evaluation, 
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the 
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC's rules and forms.  

b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the 
last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

PART III  

Reference is made to the information responsive to the Items comprising this Part III that is contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 
2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is incorporated by reference herein.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  

(a) LIST OF DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS REPORT  

(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The following consolidated financial statements of our company and report of independent auditors thereon are set forth below:  

Independent Auditors' Report.  

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.  

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.  

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

The following financial statement schedule is included in this report on Form 10-K: Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.  
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(1) Allowance recorded in the provision for income taxes.  

(2) Accounts written off, net of collections on accounts receivable previously written off.  

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the 
financial statements or notes thereto.  
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SCHEDULE II 
 
                                        VALUATION A ND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
                                                (In  Thousands) 
 
 
                                                    Col. C 
                                                   Additions 
                                  ----------------- -------------------------- 
                        Col. B 
                       Balance at                               Charged to        Col.D                 Col.E 
Col. A                 Beginning           Charged to        Other Accounts-    Deductions-           Balance at 
Description            of Period        Costs & Exp enses         Describe       Describe (2)         E nd of Period  
 
2003 
 
Allowance for 
  doubtful accounts        $460                $25                  $-              $(59)                $426 
Valuation allowance 
   for income taxes        $565                 $-                  $-                $-                 $565 
 
2002 
 
Allowance for 
  doubtful accounts        $447                $13                  $-                $-                 $460 
Valuation allowance 
   for income taxes          $-               $565        (1)       $-                $-                 $565 
 
2001 
 
Allowance for 
  doubtful accounts        $319               $136                  $-               $(8)                $447 



 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File 
No. 333-37554)).  
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period 
ended March 29, 2002).  
4.1 Registration Rights Agreement dated February 14, 2002 among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II, 
L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners-A, L.P., 
DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., UK Investment Plan 1997 
Partners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 28, 2002).  
4.2 Indenture for 2 1/4% Convertible Subordinated Debentures Due 2013 dated May 28, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107667) filed on August 5, 2003).  
4.3 Registration Rights Agreement dated May 28, 2003 by among us and the initial purchasers of the Debentures described above (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107667) filed on August 5, 2003). 10.1# 1997 Stock 
Option Plan (including form of "standard" option agreement and form of "special" option agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 10.2# 1998 Stock Option Plan (including form of "standard" option 
agreement, form of "special" option agreement and form of "non-standard" option agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our 
registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 10.3# Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. Equity Plus Plan Money Purchase Plan (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
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                                  (3) EXHIBITS  
 
EXHIBIT            DESCRIPTION 
NUMBER             ----------- 
------ 



10.4# Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. Equity Plus Plan Stock Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our registration statement on 
Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.5# Non-Employee Director Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to our definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14-
A filed on April 22, 2002).  
10.6# Employment Agreement, dated as of July 9, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. and Edward F. Voboril (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.5 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.7 Registration and Anti-Dilution Agreement, dated as of July 10, 1997, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ Investment 
Partners, L.P., DLJ Investment Funding, Inc., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company and Donaldson, 
Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
37554)).  
10.8 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 9, 2002 by and among Wilson Greatbatch Ltd., the lenders party thereto and 
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our current report on Form 8-
K filed on July 24, 2002).  
10.9 Stockholders Agreement, dated as of July 16, 1997, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II, 
L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners-A, L.P., 
DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., U.K. Investment Plan 1997 
Partners, and the other holders of common stock of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies Inc. party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.12 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.10 Amendment No. 1 to Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 31, 1997, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ 
Merchant Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ 
Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., 
U.K. Investment Plan 1997 Partners, and the other holders of common stock of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. party thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 1 0.11 Management Stockholders 
Agreement, dated as of July 10, 1997, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding 
II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DLJ Millennium 
Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., U.K. Investment Plan 1997 Partners, and the 
other holders of common stock of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to our 
registration statement on  
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Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.12 Subordinated Note Holders Stockholders Agreement, dated as of July 10, 1997, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ 
Merchant Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ 
Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., 
U.K. Investment Plan 1997 Partners, DLJ Investment Partners, L.P., DLJ Investment Funding, Inc., The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance 
Company and Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to our registration statement on 
Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 10.13# 2002 Restricted Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to our definitive proxy 
statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 9, 2003). 10.14+ Supply Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1999, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. 
and Guidant/CRM (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 10.15+ 
Amendment No. 1 to the Supply Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2001, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and 
Guidant/CRM (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2001). 
10.16+ Supply Agreement dated April 10, 2003, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and Guidant/CRM (incorporated by reference 
to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 4, 2003, filed May 16, 2003).  
10.17 Agreement, dated as of April 16, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. and Pacesetter, Inc., a St. Jude Medical Company (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.18 License Agreement, dated August 8, 1996, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd.  
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and Evans Capacitor Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
10.19+ Amendment No. 2, dated December 6, 2002, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Ltd. and Evans Capacitor Company.  
10.20*+ Supplier Partnering Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2003, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and Pacesetter, Inc., a 
St. Jude Medical Company.  
10.21 License Agreement, dated March 16, 1976, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. and Medtronic Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.24 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.22 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement, dated July 20, 1976, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. and Medtronic Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.23 Stockholders Agreement, dated as of August 23, 1999, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II, 
L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners-A, L.P., 
DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.P., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., UK Investment Plan 1997 
Partners and Fred Hittman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.24 Form of Subscription Agreement, dated on or about July 17, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and each of Edward F. 
Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. Holmes, Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde, Richard W. Mott and Susan M. Bratton (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.27 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.25 Form of Management Subscription Agreement, dated November 1, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and each of 
Edward F. Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. Holmes, Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde, Richard W. Mott and Susan M. Bratton (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.26 Form of Promissory Note, dated November 1, 1997, payable to Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. by each of Edward F. Voboril, 
Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. Holmes, Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde, Richard W. Mott and  
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Susan M. Bratton (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.27 Form of Pledge Agreement, dated November 1, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and each of Edward F. Voboril, 
Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. Holmes, Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde, Richard W. Mott and Susan M. Bratton (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.30 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.28# Form of Change of Control Agreement, dated December 17, 2001, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and each of Edward 
F. Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. Holms, Ph.D. and Richard W. Mott.  
10.29 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2000, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., Battery Engineering, Inc. and 
Hitachi Maxell, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.30 Stockholders Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2000, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., Hitachi Maxell, Ltd., DLJ Merchant 
Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ Diversified 
Partners-A, L.P., DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.P., DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P. and UK 
Investment Plan 1997 Partners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.31 Subscription Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2000, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and Hitachi Maxell, Ltd. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.32 Non-Compete Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2000, between Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. and Hitachi Maxell, Ltd. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)).  
10.33 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2001, among Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., GB Acquisition Co., Inc., Maxwell 
Technologies, Inc. and Maxwell Electronic Components Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Form 8-
K filed June 19, 2001).  
10.34 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 9, 2002, among Wilson  
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Portions of those exhibits marked "+" have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a 
request for confidential treatment.  

* Filed herewith.  

# Indicates exhibits that are management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements required to be filed pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 
10-K.  

(b) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  

On November 5, 2003, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing information pursuant to Item 9 ("Regulation FD 
Disclosure") relating to the announcement of earnings for the quarter ended October 3, 2003.  

On November 26, 2003, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K containing information pursuant to Item 5 ("Other events") to 
correct a typographical error contained in exhibit 23.1 (Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP) to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 
S-3 filed on November 18, 2003.  
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     Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., Globe Tool and Manufacturing Company, Inc. 
     ("Globe"), Charter Oak Partners of Westport, C onnecticut and certain other 
     shareholders of Globe (incorporated by referen ce to Exhibit 10.1 to our 
     current report on Form 8-K filed on July 24, 2 002). 
12.1* Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges. 
21.1* List of subsidiaries. 
23.1* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP. 
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer purs uant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the  
     Securities Exchange Act. 
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer purs uant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the  
     Securities Exchange Act. 
32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
     pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of 
     the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
99.1* Risks Related to our Business. 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.  
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Dated:  March 12, 2004        WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
 
                                 By  /s/ Edward F. Voboril 
                                     --------------------- 
                                     Edward F. Voboril 
                                     President, Chief Executive Officer 
                                     And Chairman 
                                     (Principal Executive Officer) 
 
                                 By  /s/ Lawrence P. Reinhold 
                                     ------------------------- 
                                     Lawrence P. Reinhold 
                                     Executive Vice President and 
                                     Chief Financial Officer 
                                     (Principal Financial Officer) 
 
                                 By  /s/ Thomas J. Mazza 
                                     --------------------- 
                                     Thomas J. Mazza 
                                     Vice President and Controller 
                                     (Principal Accounting Officer) 

Signature                                     Title                                                Date  
---------                                     -----                                                ---- - 
/s/ Edward F. Voboril                         Presi dent, Chief Executive Officer,            March 12,  2004  
--------------------- 
Edward F. Voboril                             Chair man and Director (Principal 
                                              Execu tive Officer) 
 
/s/ Pamela G. Bailey                          Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
-------------------- 
Pamela G. Bailey 
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Signature                                     Title                                                Date  
---------                                     -----                                                ---- - 
 
/s/ Joseph A. Miller, Jr.                     Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
------------------------- 
Joseph A. Miller, Jr. 
 
 
/s/ Robert E. Rich, Jr.                       Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
----------------------- 
Robert E. Rich, Jr. 
 
 
/s/ Bill R. Sanford                           Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
-------------------- 
Bill R. Sanford 
 
 
/s/ Peter H. Soderberg                        Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
---------------------- 
Peter H. Soderberg 
 
 
/s/ Thomas S. Summer                          Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
------------------- 
Thomas S. Summer 
 
 
/s/ William B. Summers                        Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
----------------------- 
William B. Summers, Jr. 
 
 
/s/ John P. Wareham                           Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
------------------- 
John P. Wareham 
 
 
/s/ Henry Wendt                               Direc tor                                       March 12,  2004  
---------------- 
Henry Wendt 
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                        EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
EXHIBIT                      DESCRIPTION  
NUMBER                       -----------  
------ 

3.1                Amended and Restated Certificate  of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to 
                   Exhibit 3.1 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
3.2                Amended and Restated Bylaws (inc orporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our 
                   quarterly report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarterly period ended March 29, 2002). 
 
4.1                Registration Rights Agreement da ted February 14, 2002 among Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant  Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc.,  
                   DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II -A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ 
                   Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DL J Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., 
                   DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., UK Investment Plan 1997 
                   Partners (incorporated by refere nce to Exhibit 4.1 to our quarterly report on Form 
                   10-Q for the quarterly period en ded June 28, 2002). 
 
4.2                Indenture for 21/4% Convertible Subordinated Debentures Due 2013 dated May 28, 2003  
                   (incorporated by reference to Ex hibit 4.2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-3  
                   (File No. 333-107667) filed on A ugust 5, 2003). 
 
4.3                Registration Rights Agreement da ted May 28, 2003 by among us and the initial 
                   purchasers of the Debentures des cribed above (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                   4.2 to our Registration Statemen t on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107667) filed on August  
                   5, 2003). 
 
10.1#              1997 Stock Option Plan (includin g form of "standard" option agreement and form of 
                   "special" option agreement) (inc orporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our 
                   registration statement on Form S -1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.2#              1998 Stock Option Plan (includin g form of "standard" option agreement, form of 
                   "special" option agreement and f orm of "non-standard" option agreement) (incorporat ed 
                   by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
                   333-37554)). 
 
10.3#              Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. Equity Pl us Plan Money Purchase Plan (incorporated by 
                   reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our  registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
                   333-37554)). 
 
10.4#              Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. Equity Pl us Plan Stock Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference  
                   to Exhibit 10.4 to our registrat ion statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
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10.5#              Non-Employee Director Stock Ince ntive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to  
                   our definitive proxy statement o n Schedule 14-A filed on April 22, 2002). 
 
10.6#              Employment Agreement, dated as o f July 9, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. and 
                   Edward F. Voboril (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our registration 
                   statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.7               Registration and Anti-Dilution A greement, dated as of July 10, 1997, among Wilson 
                   Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., D LJ Investment Partners, L.P., DLJ Investment Fundin g,  
                   Inc., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., The Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company and 
                   Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Sec urities Corporation (incorporated by reference to 
                   Exhibit 10.7 to our registration  statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.8               Amended and Restated Credit Agre ement dated as of July 9, 2002 by and among Wilson 
                   Greatbatch Ltd., the lenders par ty thereto and Manufacturers and Traders Trust 
                   Company, as administrative agent  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our 
                   current report on Form 8-K filed  on July 24, 2002). 
 
10.9               Stockholders Agreement, dated as  of July 16, 1997, among Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant  Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc.,  
                   DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II -A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ 
                   Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DL J Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., 
                   DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., U.K. Investment Plan 1997 
                   Partners, and the other holders of common stock of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies 
                   Inc. party thereto (incorporated  by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our registration 
                   statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.10              Amendment No. 1 to Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 31, 1997, among Wils on 
                   Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., D LJ Merchant Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Fundin g 
                   II, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking P artners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P.,  
                   DLJ Diversified Partners-A, L.P. , DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC 
                   L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II , C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., U.K. Investment Pla n 
                   1997 Partners, and the other hol ders of common stock of Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc. party thereto  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to our  
                   registration statement on Form S -1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
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10.11              Management Stockholders Agreemen t, dated as of July 10, 1997, among Wilson Greatbat ch  
                   Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant  Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB Funding II, Inc.,  
                   DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II -A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners, L.P., DLJ 
                   Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DL J Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ESC L.L.C., 
                   DLJ Offshore Partners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., U.K. Investment Plan 1997 
                   Partners, and the other holders of common stock of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, 
                   Inc. party thereto (incorporated  by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to our registration 
                   statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.12              Subordinated Note Holders Stockh olders Agreement, dated as of July 10, 1997, among 
                   Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II, L.P., DLJMB  
                   Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merchant B anking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partner s,  
                   L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners-A , L.P., DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DLJ First ES C 
                   L.L.C., DLJ Offshore Partners II , C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P., U.K. Investment Pla n 
                   1997 Partners, DLJ Investment Pa rtners, L.P., DLJ Investment Funding, Inc., The 
                   Northwestern Mutual Life Insuran ce Company and Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette 
                   Securities Corporation (incorpor ated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to our 
                   registration statement on Form S -1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.13#             2002 Restricted Stock Plan (inco rporated by reference to Appendix B to our definiti ve  
                   proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 9, 2003). 
 
10.14+             Supply Agreement, dated as of Fe bruary 1, 1999, between Wilson Greatbatch Ltd. and 
                   Guidant/CRM (incorporated by ref erence to Exhibit 10.20 to our registration stateme nt  
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                   (incorporated by reference to Ex hibit 10.27 to our registration statement on Form S -1  
                   (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.25              Form of Management Subscription Agreement, dated November 1, 1997, between Wilson 
                   Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. an d each of Edward F. Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, 
                   Curtis F. Holmes, Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde, Richard W. Mott and Susan M. Bratton 
                   (incorporated by reference to Ex hibit 10.28 to our registration statement on Form S -1  
                   (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.26              Form of Promissory Note, dated N ovember 1, 1997, payable to Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc. by each of Ed ward F. Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. Holme s,  
                   Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde, Richar d W. Mott and Susan M. Bratton (incorporated by 
                   reference to Exhibit 10.29 to ou r registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
                   333-37554)). 



 
72  

10.27              Form of Pledge Agreement, dated November 1, 1997, between Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc. and each of E dward F. Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, Curtis F. 
                   Holmes, Ph.D., Arthur J. Lalonde , Richard W. Mott and Susan M. Bratton (incorporate d 
                   by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to  our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
                   333-37554)). 
 
10.28#             Form of Change of Control Agreem ent, dated December 17, 2001, between Wilson 
                   Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. an d each of Edward F. Voboril, Larry T. DeAngelo, 
                   Curtis F. Holms, Ph.D. and Richa rd W. Mott. 
 
10.29              Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2000, among Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc., Battery Engi neering, Inc. and Hitachi Maxell, Ltd. (incorporate d 
                   by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to  our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
                   333-37554)). 
 
10.30              Stockholders Agreement, dated as  of August 7, 2000, among Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc., Hitachi Maxe ll, Ltd., DLJ Merchant Banking Partners II, L.P., 
                   DLJMB Funding II, Inc., DLJ Merc hant Banking Partners II-A, L.P., DLJ Diversified 
                   Partners, L.P., DLJ Diversified Partners-A, L.P., DLJ Millennium Partners, L.P., DL J 
                   First ESC L.P., DLJ Offshore Par tners II, C.V., DLJ EAB Partners, L.P. and UK 
                   Investment Plan 1997 Partners (i ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to our 
                   registration statement on Form S -1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.31              Subscription Agreement, dated as  of August 7, 2000, between Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc. and Hitachi M axell, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                   10.33 to our registration statem ent on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.32              Non-Compete Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2000, between Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc. and Hitachi M axell, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                   10.34 to our registration statem ent on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37554)). 
 
10.33              Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2001, among Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc., GB Acquisiti on Co., Inc., Maxwell Technologies, Inc. and Maxwel l 
                   Electronic Components Group, Inc . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our  
                   current report on Form 8-K filed  June 19, 2001). 
 
10.34              Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 9, 2002, among Wilson Greatbatch 
                   Technologies, Inc., Globe Tool a nd Manufacturing Company, Inc. ("Globe"), Charter O ak  
                   Partners of Westport, Connecticu t and certain other shareholders of Globe 
                   (incorporated by reference to Ex hibit 10.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed on 
                   July 24, 2002). 



 
73  

          12.1*              Ratio of Earnings to F ixed Charges. 
          21.1*              List of subsidiaries. 
          23.1*              Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP. 
          31.1*              Certification of Chief  Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of th e Securities  
                             Exchange Act. 
          31.2*              Certification of Chief  Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of th e Securities  
                             Exchange Act. 
          32.1*              Certification of Chief  Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer purs uant to 18 
                             U.S.C. Section 1350 as  adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Ox ley Act of 
                             2002. 
          99.1*              Risks Related to our B usiness. 
 
          Portions of those exhibits marked "+" hav e been omitted and filed separately with the Securi ties and 
          Exchange Commission pursuant to a request  for confidential treatment. 
 
*           Filed herewith. 
 
#           Indicates exhibits that are management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements req uired to be 
            filed pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 10 -K. 



EXHIBIT 10.20  

THE CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT, WHICH HAVE BEEN REMOVED AND REPLACED WITH AN ASTERISK, 
HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO A 
REQUEST FOR  
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT UNDER RULE 406  
PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND RULE 24b-2 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.  

SUPPLIER PARTNERING AGREEMENT  

This agreement (Agreement) is dated October 23, 2003 by and between the following parties:  

Pacesetter, Inc. (d/b/a St. Jude Medical CRMD), a St. Jude Medical Company, 15900 Valley View Court, Sylmar, California 91392-9221 
("Buyer"); and  

Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc., (WGT) 9645 Wehrle Drive, Clarence, New York 14031 ("Seller").  

INTRODUCTION  

Buyer and Wilson Greatbatch Ltd., a subsidiary of Seller entered into a certain Supplier Partnering Agreement dated as of June 1, 2000 (the 
"2000 Agreement") and the parties desire to replace the 2000 Agreement in its entirety as set forth in this Agreement. The parties desire to 
establish and continue a stable relationship based on a continuous improvement process leading toward world-class benchmarks in quality, 
cost, inventory levels, delivery, technology, and service.  

Therefore, Seller and Buyer mutually agree to the following:  

1. Term of Agreement. This Agreement is enforceable immediately but its terms and conditions shall become effective on 01 January 2004 and 
will remain in force until 31 December 2006 ("Initial Term"); provided, however, that the term of this Agreement may be extended pursuant to 
Section 9 of Exhibit A. This Agreement shall supercede and replace the 2000 Agreement in its entirety effective as of 01 January 2004.  

2. Purchase orders; Terms and Conditions of Sale. Seller will provide Buyer Products (as defined in Exhibit A to this Agreement) pursuant to 
purchase orders to be issued by Buyer's business units, including its Swedish affiliate. The general terms and conditions of sale for Products 
sold by Seller to Buyer hereunder are set forth on Exhibit A attached to and made a part of this Agreement. The parties expressly agree that 
none of the terms and conditions of any standard purchase preprinted forms used by either Seller or the Buyer in effectuating the purchase and 
sale transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including, but not limited to, purchase orders, acknowledgements and acceptance forms, 
invoices, labels and shipping documents) which are inconsistent with, or in addition to, those contained in this Agreement shall have any force 
or effect.  
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3. Pricing. Pricing shall be as shown in Exhibits B (Batteries and Capacitors), C (Feedthroughs, Filtered Feedthroughs), D (Component Parts) 
and E (Enclosures).  

4. Inventory. Seller will maintain a finished inventory for each Product at the level indicated in Exhibits B, C, D and E. The level is a 
proportion of the estimated annual usage for the product and will be updated each quarter. If inventory drops below the indicated level at any 
time or is totally consumed by Buyer, Seller will promptly replenish inventory to the appropriate level as indicated in Exhibits B, C, D and E. 
Seller will keep Buyer informed of the inventory level and location of each Product. At Buyer's discretion, any inventory may be consigned to 
Buyer's facility. Buyer will be responsible for any resulting additional costs to Seller.  

Buyer is responsible for all inventory held by Seller under the terms of, and as provided for in, Section 6 of Exhibit A to this Agreement.  

5. Forecasts. Effective January, 2004 and each quarter thereafter that the Agreement continues to remain in effect, Buyer shall provide Seller 
with a written rolling 12 month forecast of the amount of each Product which Buyer projects it will purchase during the next 12 months 
("Forecasts"). Forecasts shall be non-binding on Buyer; provided, however, that the amount of inventory that Seller is required to maintain (as 
set forth on Exhibits B, C, D and E) during the 12 months shall be determined by reference to the Forecasts. Buyer shall make every reasonable 
effort to provide 12 month rolling forecast no later than the 5th business day of each quarter.  

6. Quantity. Subject to Section 2.6 on Exhibit A, Buyer will purchase no less than the inventory commitment of each product indicated in 
Exhibits B, C, D and E. Also subject to Section 2.6 on Exhibit A, Buyer will purchase from Seller a percentage of Buyer's total annual 
requirements of each Product determined as indicated in Exhibits B, C, D and E. Excluded from this obligation is Buyer's need for new or 
developing technologies that Seller is unable to supply at competitive prices and in time to meet Buyer's needs.  

7. Quality/Improvements. Seller will start or maintain a program that includes the ability to measure and report on quality control and 
improvement processes.  

7.1. Seller will start and/or maintain a continuous improvement strategy for product quality, cost, delivery, inventory reduction, and service.  

7.2. Delivery to be 100% on time (up to three days early and zero days late).  

7.3. Seller will start and/or maintain a quality system or plan that meets the requirements of ISO-9000.  
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7.4. Upon request by Buyer or Seller, Seller will participate, or be permitted to participate, in early supplier involvement with Buyer for Buyer's 
new Products of the type specified in this Agreement. Buyer will provide Seller with sufficient information and cooperation in connection 
therewith to permit Seller to qualify product for sale to Buyer.  

7.5. Seller will meet with Buyer on a regular basis to review programs, performance measurements, and barriers to progress. Seller and Buyer 
will mutually agree on taking actions to correct problems and eliminate barriers.  

8. Communication. Seller and Buyer will conduct quarterly reviews to facilitate the purposes of this Agreement. Also, Buyer will inform Seller 
of Buyer's planned production rates for the Products to help Seller in its planning. Until further notice, the key people who will be responsible 
for routine communications between Seller and Buyer are:  

For Seller: Elwin Rego, Market Manager - Batteries and Capacitors Paul Ziolkowski, Market Manager - Components Mary Brocious, Market 
Manager - Feedthroughs / Filtered Feedthroughs  
Mike Nowaczyk, Plant Manager - Enclosures  

For Buyer: Mary Lytle, Commodity Manager Owe Eriksson, Director of Purchasing (Sweden)  

9. Buyer's drawings and designs. Seller will use only drawings that have been mutually agreed upon to manufacture the Products. Seller will 
never make or sell any Products using Buyer's designs for anyone other than Buyer.  

10. Confidential information.  

10.1. Treatment of Propriety Information. Each of Seller and Buyer (each a "receiving party") agrees to maintain all proprietary information 
disclosed by the other party to this Agreement (each a "disclosing party") in strict secrecy and confidence, and not to disclose such proprietary 
information to any third party, nor make any use of such information and technology for its own benefit or gain other than in carrying out its 
efforts under this Agreement. The receiving party agrees to have its employees sign agreements, or to have an appropriate corporate policy in 
effect, which requires them to keep confidential any proprietary information they learn in their positions at the receiving party; these 
agreements and/or policies shall require them to maintain confidentiality of proprietary information disclosed by the disclosing party. The 
receiving party further agrees that no proprietary information or materials will be supplied to any other corporation, partnership, laboratory, or 
individuals other than those approved in writing by the disclosing party, with the exception of disclosure to the FDA and similar regulatory 
agencies of information relative to obtaining regulatory approval.  

10.2. Limited Release. The receiving party shall be released from the obligations of Section 10.1 to the extent that any of the disclosed 
information: (a) was already part of the public domain at the time of the  
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disclosure by the disclosing party; (b) becomes part of the public domain through no fault of the receiving party (but only after and only to the 
extent that it is published or otherwise becomes part of the public domain); (c) was in the receiving party's possession prior to the disclosure by 
the disclosing party and was not acquired, directly, or indirectly, from the disclosing party or from a third party who was under a continuing 
obligation of confidence to the disclosing party; (d) is received (after the disclosure by the disclosing party) by the receiving party from a third 
party who did not require the receiving party to hold it in confidence and did not acquire it directly or indirectly, from the disclosing party 
under a continuing obligation of confidence; or (e) is disclosed by the receiving party pursuant to judicial compulsion, provided that the 
disclosing party is notified at the time such judicial action is initiated. In addition, notwithstanding Section 9.1, Seller may provide proprietary 
information of Buyer to its subcontractors and vendors without Buyer's prior approval provided that WGL first requires any such subcontractor 
or vendor to sign a confidentiality agreement which requires them to keep confidential such Buyer information and not to use it except for the 
purpose of performing their obligations to Seller.  

10.3. Term of Obligation. The obligation of the receiving party to receive and hold information disclosed by the disclosing party in confidence, 
as required by this Section 9, shall terminate eight (8) years from the date of disclosure of the information hereunder and shall survive any 
earlier termination of this Agreement.  

10.4. Disposal Upon Termination. In the event this Agreement is terminated, any samples, sketches, or other proprietary material provided by 
the disclosing party to the receiving party shall be destroyed or returned to the disclosing party, unless and to the extent such materials are 
necessary to the receiving party to provide continuing support.  

11. Other Provisions.  

11.1. Relationship of the parties. There is no principal-agent relationship between the parties. Neither party will have any authority to contract, 
bind, or act on behalf of the other, and neither party will try to do so.  

11.2. Separability and waiver. If any part of this Agreement is not legally enforceable, only that part will be disregarded and the rest will stay in 
effect. If a party waives a particular term or condition, it will be for one time only, it will not change the Agreement, and the same term or 
condition can be enforced again later.  

11.3. Entire agreement; changes. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties regarding this subject and replaces all 
previous agreements. There are no written or oral agreements, understandings, or representations apart from this Agreement. This Agreement 
cannot be changed in any way except by a written document that both parties sign. No interference will be drawn from any difference between 
this Agreement and any prior negotiations, letters of intent, or drafts of this Agreement.  
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11.4. Notices. Notices under this Agreement must be in writing. A party can send notice by U.S. certified or express mail, by express courier 
service (e.g., Federal Express), or by telephone fax to the other party, addressed as follows:  

To Buyer at:  

Michael Coyle  

President  
St. Jude Medical Cardiac Rhythm Management Division 15900 Valley View Court Sylmar, California 91392-9221  

To Seller at:  

Edward F. Voboril  

Chairman, President & CEO Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. 9645 Wehrle Drive  
Clarence, New York 14031  

or to whatever other address a receiving party may specify from time to time. The parties will consider that notice is given at the end of two 
business days after it is faxed, and/or five business days from the date it is deposited postage prepaid in the mail or given to an express courier 
service. A written receipt will be proof of delivery if it is signed by an authorized representative of the receiving party at the address above.  

11.5. Effect of Termination. Expiration or termination of this Agreement shall not affect or cause the release of monetary obligation which shall 
have accrued prior to such termination, and the parties obligations under  
Section 9 and 10 and Sections 3 and 6 of Exhibit A shall continue in effect until fully satisfied.  

11.6. Public Announcements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, neither party may initiate or make any 
public announcement or other disclosure concerning the terms and conditions or the subject matter of this Agreement to any third party without 
the prior written approval of the other party except as may be required by law. In those circumstances where either party believes that any such 
disclosure is required by law, it shall (a) notify the other party on a timely basis in advance and (b) use its best efforts to seek confidential 
treatment of the material provisions of this Agreement to the greatest extent permitted by law.  

11.7. Law. California law will govern this Agreement and its interpretation, as well as the rights and duties of the parties.  
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IN WITNESS OF THIS AGREEMENT, the parties have signed below by their authorized officers:  

PACESETTER, INC. WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, IN C.  
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By:     /s/  J. Reynolds                  By:       /s/ Jose E. Almeida 
        ------------------------------              ---------------------------- 
 
Title:  V.P. Mfg. Operations              Title:    COO, EVP 
        ------------------------------              ---------------------------- 
 
Date:   October 23, 2003                  Date:     October 17, 2003 
        ------------------------------              ---------------------------- 



EXHIBIT A  
TO  

SUPPLIER PARTNERING AGREEMENT  

This Exhibit A sets forth the general terms and conditions of sale for all Products sold by Seller to Buyer pursuant to the Agreement to which it 
is attached.  

1. Definitions. For purposes hereof, the following terms shall have the defined meanings set forth below:  

1.1 "Agreement" means the Supplier Partnering Agreement (as amended and restated) to which this "Exhibit A" is attached.  

1.2 "Batteries" means batteries and other power sources (other than Capacitors), including where the context requires all such Products 
manufactured by Seller and sold to Buyer under this Agreement.  

1.3 "Capacitors" means wet tantalum and other electrical capacitors, including where the context requires all such Products manufactured by 
Seller and sold to Buyer under this Agreement.  

1.4 "Feedthroughs" means all filtered and unfiltered device feedthrough components, including where the context requires all such Products 
manufactured by Seller and sold to Buyer under this Agreement.  

1.5 "Components" means machined and molded products, including where the context requires all such Products manufactured by Seller and 
sold to Buyer under this Agreement.  

1.6 "Enclosures" means device cases/cans, including where the context requires all such Products manufactured by Seller and sold to Buyer 
under this Agreement.  

1.7 "Products" or "Products" means Batteries, Capacitors, Feedthroughs, Component Parts and Enclosures, including where the context 
requires all such Products manufactured by Seller and sold to Buyer under this Agreement.  

1.8 "Consignment Products" means all Products consigned by Seller to Buyer under this Agreement.  

2. Order, Delivery, Payment, Inspection.  

2.1 Orders. All Products shall be ordered by Buyer using Buyer's standard purchase order form which shall set forth, at a minimum, the 
quantity of Products ordered, the address of the facility of Buyer (or its affiliate) to which Product should be shipped and requested delivery 
dates.  
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2.2 Payment Terms. Payment terms are as follows: (a) for Consignment Products purchased by Buyer, by the thirtieth (30th) day after the day 
on which Consignment Products shall have been withdrawn by Buyer or (b) for all other Batteries and Components purchased by Buyer, net 30 
days from the date of the invoice, F.O.B. Clarence, New York or point of shipment, whichever is applicable. Payment terms for tooling and 
engineering charges are net 30 days from the date of the invoice.  

2.3 Delivery. Except for any Consignment Products, Seller shall deliver Products to Buyer's facility at Valley View Court in Sylmar, 
California, and/or to such other location(s) as Buyer may designate. Unless Buyer gives Seller written instructions as to the method of shipment 
and carrier, Seller shall select the methods of shipment and the carrier for the respective purchase order. Seller shall prepay transportation and 
similar charges upon shipment. Except for Consignment Products, title to all Products conforming to Buyer's purchase order shall pass, free and 
clear of all encumbrances, at the FOB shipping point, which shall be Seller's facility. Buyer assumes and agrees to bear all risk of damage or 
loss to the goods after delivery by Seller to the carrier at the FOB shipping point. Buyer hereby releases Seller from any and all claims and 
liability with respect to any such in-transit damages or losses to the goods. Buyer shall be responsible for securing insurance coverage to cover 
shipments and deliveries hereunder.  

2.4 Inspection. Seller shall perform testing to ensure that Products delivered by Buyer meet all applicable specifications. Buyer inspection of 
incoming Products will rely upon Seller testing and may consist of an examination of Seller's testing documentation as well as independent 
testing by Buyer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall attempt to inspect all Products (including the Consignment Products) within thirty 
 
(30) days, but not to exceed sixty (60) days, and notify Seller if any of the Products fail to meet Buyer's specifications and quality standards for 
such Products.  

2.5 Acceptance. Buyer may reject any shipments or deliveries of Products, which are short, nonconforming, defective or deficient and may 
request correction and/or replacement. Rejected shipments or deliveries of Products shall at the request of Seller be set aside for Seller 
inspection, or at the request of Seller shipped freight prepaid to Seller. All Products returned to Seller shall be accompanied by a copy of their 
original shipping documents and the name and phone number of the person at Buyer to be contacted regarding such return. Promptly upon 
receipt of notice of such shortage, non-conformance, defect or deficiency, Seller shall immediately notify Buyer:  

(a) as to how Seller will replace the defective or deficient Products upon return to Seller, ship replacement Products, or otherwise promptly 
correct such shortage, non-conformance, or deficiency; and/or  
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(b) whether such shipment of Products shall be set aside and held by Buyer or returned to Seller and the address to which such affected 
Products should be returned, or whether such Products should otherwise be disposed of.  

If Buyer elects to cancel or rescind such purchase, Seller shall promptly refund and reimburse Buyer the price paid by Buyer for such purchase, 
including freight and shipping costs incurred by Buyer in such purchase, prior to the return of the same to Seller. If Buyer elects to have the 
product replaced, Seller shall bear or shall reimburse Buyer for all costs and expenses incurred by Buyer to repackage, ship and return affected 
Products to Seller and shall issue a credit memo for the amount of the purchase price of the returned Products.  

2.6 Force Majeure. In the event of fire, explosion, strikes, war, act of any governmental agency, material or labor shortage, transportation 
contingency, act of God or any other causes beyond the control of Seller ("Force Majeure"), Seller shall not be liable for any delay in shipment 
or non-delivery of Products covered by this Agreement arising from Force Majeure, and Buyer shall be bound to accept the delayed shipment 
or delivery made within a reasonable time. In the event of Force Majeure, Buyer shall be excused for the failure to take and pay for Products 
ordered under this Agreement, until such Force Majeure condition is removed. In the event such conditions cannot be corrected by the party 
affected within six  
(6) months of the date of the occurrence of a Force Majeure event, then the other party shall have the option to terminate this Agreement upon 
one (1) month prior notice.  

2.7 Outside Testing. In addition to Seller's testing and Buyer's inspection under Section 2.4 above, Buyer may engage, at its sole expense, a 
third party (hereinafter, "Testing Organization") to perform testing of Batteries sold to Buyer hereunder, subject to the following conditions:  

(a) The Testing Organization must be independent and not affiliated or associated with Buyer in any way;  

(b) Seller shall have approved the Testing Organization in writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably denied. In that regard, Buyer shall 
notify Seller in advance of the name, address, qualifications and ownership of the Testing Organization; and  

(c) The Testing Organization shall have agreed in writing (i) to follow all reasonable safety and use directions of Sellers' applicable to the 
Batteries; (ii) not to reverse engineer, disassemble or destructively test any Batteries of Seller that are the subject of any testing or otherwise; 
and (iii) to promptly provide to Seller copies of all test reports and other documentation relating to the Batteries that it delivers or makes 
available to Buyer.  

3. Warranty, Limitation of Liability.  

3.1 Product Warranty.  
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(a) Seller warrants that the Products delivered to Buyer will meet the applicable specifications for such Products and will be free from defects 
in materials and workmanship at the time of sale. Seller's sole obligation under this Warranty is the repair or replacement, at its election, of any 
Product, which is found, upon Seller's inspection not to meet warranty set forth in Section 3.1. Such product will be repaired or replaced 
without charge provided that, (1) prior written approval is required before returning any product, and (2) any product return sent to Seller 
without prior written approval will be returned to the sender, freight collect.  

(b) This Warranty does not apply to depletion, wear and/or any failure occurring as a result of any of the following:  
normal use, abuse, misuse, any alteration or modification made to any Product without the express written consent of Seller, attempted 
disassembly, neglect, improper installation, or any other use inconsistent with any applicable law, rule, regulation or governmental directive, or 
any use inconsistent with the specifications or warning or recommended operating practices specific to the Product.  

(c) THE WARRANTY SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION 3.1 IS IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES (EXCEPT OF TITLE), 
WRITTEN OR ORAL, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS 
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT. BUYER EXPRESSLY ASSUMES ALL LIABILITY ARISING FROM OR 
IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OF THE PRODUCTS PURCHASED HEREUNDER, WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, 
WARRANTY, TORT OR OTHERWISE AND AGREES TO HOLD SELLER HARMLESS FROM SUCH LIABILITIES AND CLAIMS.  

3.2 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. THE REMEDIES OF BUYER IN THE WARRANTY SET FORTH IN SECTION 3.1 WITH RESPECT 
TO ALL PRODUCTS, EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN  
SECTION 3.3 BELOW, ARE EXCLUSIVE, AND THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF SELLER WITH RESPECT TO ANY PRODUCT SOLD 
TO BUYER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, OR FROM DELIVERY, INSTALLATION OR REPAIR COVERED BY OR FURNISHED 
UNDER ANY SALE TO BUYER, WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, WARRANTY, NEGLIGENCE, INDEMNITY, STRICT 
LIABILITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL NOT EXCEED THE PURCHASE PRICE OF THE PRODUCT UPON WHICH SUCH LIABILITY 
IS PLACED. SELLER SHALL IN NO EVENT BE LIABLE TO BUYER OR TO ANY SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST OR ANY 
BENEFICIARY OR ASSIGNEE THEREOF RELATING TO THE SALE OF PRODUCT FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, 
INDIRECT, SPECIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF SUCH SALE OR ANY DEFECTS IN, OR FAILURE OF, OR 
MALFUNCTION OF THE PRODUCT UNDER SUCH SALE, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DAMAGES BASED UPON LOSS 
OF USE, LOST PROFITS OR REVENUE, INTEREST, LOST GOODWILL, INCREASED EXPENSES AND/OR CLAIMS OF 
CUSTOMERS OF BUYER, WHETHER OR NOT SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGE IS BASED ON CONTRACT, WARRANTY, 
NEGLIGENCE, INDEMNITY, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE.  
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3.3 Limited Patent Indemnification.  

(a) Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer, its affiliates and their officers and directors (each, an "Indemnified Party") against any 
and all amounts paid by any such Indemnified Party to any third party ("Person") by way of damages and, subject to Paragraph (b) of this 
Section 3.3, legal fees, other defense costs and amounts paid in settlement arising out of any claim, legal action or proceeding by such Person 
asserting that any Product as supplied to Buyer under this Agreement infringes any patent or other intellectual property rights of such Person 
specifically relating to such Product or the process of its manufacture by Seller (and not its manner of use by Buyer or any affiliate of Buyer).  

(b) If a claim by a Person is made against any Indemnified Party, and if the Indemnified Party intends to seek indemnity with respect thereto 
under this Section 3.3, the Indemnified Party shall promptly notify Seller of such claim in writing ("Indemnity Claim Notice"). Seller shall be 
entitled, but not obligated, to settle or assume the defense of such claim, including the employment of counsel reasonably satisfactory to Seller. 
If Seller elects to settle or defend such claim, Seller shall notify the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days after receipt of Buyer's Indemnity 
Claim Notice of Seller's intent to do so. If Seller elects not to settle or defend such claim or fails to notify the Indemnified Party of the election 
within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Indemnity Claim Notice, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to contest, settle or compromise 
the claim provided that, regardless of which party is controlling the settlement or defense of any claim, (a) both the Indemnified Party and 
Seller shall act in good faith, (b) Seller shall permit the Indemnified Party to participate in such settlement or defense through counsel chosen 
by the Indemnified Party, (c) no entry of judgment or settlement of a claim may be agreed to by an Indemnified Person without the prior 
written consent of Seller, and (d) Seller shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for the full amount of such claim and the related expenses as 
incurred by the Indemnified Party pursuant to this Section 3.3; provided that, if Seller does assume the defense of any claim hereunder, Seller 
shall not be responsible for the Indemnified Party's legal fees, costs and/or expenses from the date Seller assumes such defense. The controlling 
party shall upon request deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the other party copies of all correspondence, pleadings, motions, briefs, appeals or 
other written statements relating to or submitted in connection with the settlement or defense of any such claim, and timely notices of any 
hearing or other court proceeding relating to such claim.  

4. Compliance with Law.  

4.1 Violation of Law. Buyer and Seller shall each strictly observe and comply with all federal and local laws and regulations, which may 
govern the manufacture, sale, handling and disposal of any Products herein specified. Violation of any such law or regulation may be viewed as 
a breach of the Agreement, and may be cause for termination or suspension of sales thereunder. Nothing herein shall be construed to allow 
either party the right to cancel this Agreement for any inadvertent error or minor violation of any law or regulation by the other party.  
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4.2 FDA Compliance. During the term of this Agreement Buyer shall have responsibility for obtaining at its expense, in its name and at its 
discretion any necessary device regulatory approvals from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (i.e. PMA's or 501(k)'s as the case may be), 
and applicable regulatory agencies of such other countries in which any product of Buyer incorporating the Products will be sold. Seller shall 
supply Buyer with all documents, instruments, information, reports and advice and general assistance as is necessary to complete, and as is 
reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with such regulatory approval efforts.  

4.3 Seller Compliance. Upon not less than three (3) business days' notice, Seller will provide such Buyer personnel as Buyer reasonably deems 
appropriate with reasonable access from time to time to Seller's facilities and records for the purpose of confirming Seller's compliance with 
requirement as noted in this Section 4, and for the further purpose of confirming, if reasonably deemed necessary by Buyer, Seller's compliance 
with applicable specifications for Products.  

5. Consignment. If Buyer requests Seller to consign any Products to Buyer, the following terms and conditions shall apply:  

(a) Consignment Products shall be delivered to Buyer location at which Buyer will use the Products, based upon information supplied by Buyer 
to Seller. However, Seller shall have the option not to make any such shipment unless Buyer shall have paid all sums owing with respect to all 
previous quantities of Products purchased by Buyer.  

(b) Seller shall use Federal Express or UPS or other recognized courier services to ship Consignment Products, as directed by Buyer, and shall 
charge Buyer's account with such courier service. Consignment Products shall be received by Buyer and stored by Buyer as Seller's property. 
All charges and expenses for receiving, handling, and storing such material shall be paid by Buyer. The Consignment Products in all cases shall 
be carefully segregated from other goods either of the same or different character belonging either to Buyer or to any third person, shall be 
marked as Seller's property, and shall be stored in an area in Buyer's facilities separate from and not mingled with other goods of Buyer or of 
any third person.  

(c) Buyer shall inspect all Products (including the Consignment Products) and notify Seller within one month if any of the Products fail to meet 
Buyer's specifications and quality standards for such Products.  

(d) Buyer shall comply with all laws which might in any way affect Seller's ownership of the Consignment Products from time to time stored in 
Buyer's facility(s) and shall indemnify and hold harmless Seller from and against all loss, damage, and expense arising out of any levy, 
attachment, lien or process involving the Consignment Products. Buyer shall be responsible for, and shall indemnify Seller against, any loss or 
shrinkage in the quantity of the Consignment Products while so stored, whether such loss or shrinkage is caused by theft or pilferage or by fire, 
flood, tornado or other similar catastrophe. Buyer shall purchase and maintain insurance covering all such losses and naming Seller as 
additional insured.  
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(e) Buyer shall keep at all times a complete list or inventory of the Consignment Products so stored, copies of which list shall be furnished to 
Seller upon request. Upon not less than three (3) business days prior notice, Seller's representatives shall have reasonable access to the 
Consignment Products at Buyer's facilities for the purpose of verifying such lists or inspecting the condition of Consignment Products.  

(f) All public charges, whether in the nature of sales, occupational or other taxes or assessment or license fees, which shall be levied or assessed 
against the Consignment Products at Buyer's facilities, or against Buyer or Seller by reason hereof, by any federal, state or municipal authority, 
shall be paid by Buyer.  

(g) All Consignment Products shall remain the property of Seller and shall be held by Buyer as such until withdrawn from the consigned stock 
and purchased by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. Buyer will withdraw Products from the inventory of Consignment Products on a first-in-
first-out basis for each product model.  

(h) From time to time, as Buyer shall purchase Consignment Products from Seller, it may withdraw the Consignment Products so purchased 
from Seller's consigned stock of the product at Buyer's facility(s). Upon each such withdrawal for purchase by Buyer pursuant to this 
Agreement, title to the Consignment Products so withdrawn shall pass to Buyer.  

6. Obligations Upon Termination or Certain Changes.  

(a) Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever or if Buyer changes the model mix of, or discontinues, any 
Products which it requires, Buyer shall purchase, or be deemed to have purchased from Seller, all of the remaining Consignment Products 
located at a Company facility, which met Buyer's specifications and quality standards at the time of receipt, as of the date of expiration or 
termination, at the prices in effect at such time. Payment shall be made in accordance with Section 2.2  
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(b) Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever or if Buyer changes the model mix of, or discontinues, any 
Products which it requires, Buyer agrees to purchase, within six (6) months, all Products that Seller then holds either (i) as finished inventory or 
(ii) work-in-progress ("WIP") up to the maximum amount of inventory that Seller is required to maintain under Section 4 of the Agreement 
(provided, however that, for any WIP, Buyer shall only be required to reimburse Seller for the cost of any such material that Seller cannot 
reasonably use for other product(s).  

7. New Technology.  

7.1 During the Initial Term of this Agreement and any extension thereof, Seller agrees to offer, develop and manufacture for, and to sell to, 
Products and for Buyer's products incorporating any technology or intellectual property (collectively, "Technology") for such Products which 
Seller now possesses or may hereafter develop or acquire, provided that Seller is not otherwise restricted by law or contract including but not 
limited to restrictions due to intellectual property rights owned by third parties or designs the development of which were paid for in whole or 
in part by a customer from selling Products incorporating such Technology to Buyer ("New Products"). All New Products shall be subject to 
and covered by this Agreement.  

7.2 For any New Product developed under this Section 7 for Buyer, the parties agree to negotiate pricing for such New Product in good faith.  

8. Continuity of Supply. Seller acknowledges that Buyer has certain concerns regarding the continuity of its supply source for Products in the 
event that a change of control occurs with respect to Seller. In that regard, Seller agrees as follows:  

8.1 This Agreement is binding on Seller's successors and assigns.  

8.2 In the event that Seller sells all or substantially all of its assets to any third party, Seller shall require any such purchaser to assume and 
agree to perform all of Seller's obligations under and for the term of this Agreement.  

8.3 In addition, Seller agrees that, in connection with any sale of a controlling interest of Seller to any direct competitor of Buyer ("Acquiror"), 
Seller will notify any such potential Acquiror of its obligations under this Agreement.  

8.4 "Controlling interest" means:  

8.4.1 The acquisition by a competitor of Buyer of twenty-five percent (25%) or more of any class of securities of Seller;  
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8.4.2 The acquisition by a competitor of Buyer of a right (whether by means of warrants, options, or otherwise) to acquire twenty-five percent 
(25%) or more of any class of securities of Seller;  

8.4.3 The granting of a right to representation on the Seller's board of directors to a competitor of Buyer (or a director, officer, employee, or 
agent of a competitor of Buyer) or the election to Seller's board of directors by a competitor of Buyer (or director, officer, employee or agent of 
a competitor of Buyer); or  

8.4.4 The establishment by the Seller of a joint venture, that engages or proposes to engage in any business in which Buyer then engages, in 
which a competitor of Buyer owns ten percent (10%) or more of any class of securities or has a right to ten percent (10%) or more of the profits 
of the venture.  

9. Option to Extend the Agreement. Buyer shall have the option to extend the term of this Agreement beyond the Initial Term for a period of 
two (2) years ("Option Extension Period") by delivering written notice to Seller not less than sixty (60) days prior to the extension date. The 
Option Extension Period, however, is subject to all of the following conditions:  

9.1 The prices for Batteries, Feedthroughs, Components and Enclosures during the Option Extension Period shall be, at the option of * either: 
(a) the * for each such Product * , or (b) prices for Batteries, Feedthroughs, Components and Enclosures * for all Batteries (in the aggregate), 
for all Feedthroughs (in the aggregate), for all Components (in the aggregate) and for all Enclosures (in the aggregate) sold to Buyer in each 
year of the Option Extension Period which is equal to * obtained by Seller for all Batteries (in the aggregate), for all Feedthroughs (in the 
aggregate), for all Components (in the aggregate) and for all Enclosures (in the aggregate) , respectively, * ;  

9.2 The prices for Capacitors will * during the Option Extension Period.  

9.3 If * elects pricing under Section 9.1(b) above, Seller will notify Buyer as soon as is reasonably possible, as to the pricing applicable for the 
Option Extension Period. * as to the amount of the * that * with respect to Batteries (in the aggregate), Feedthroughs (in the aggregate), 
Components (in the aggregate) and Enclosures (in the aggregate), respectively. Seller will cooperate with * so that the * within thirty (30) days 
of its appointment by Buyer. If the * of the price quoted by Seller, then Buyer will be solely responsible for the * of the * . If the price quoted 
by Seller is more than * , then Seller will be solely responsible for the * of the * .  

9.4 " * " under Section 9.1(b) above shall: (a) be calculated according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and in a manner 
consistent with Seller's previous practices; and (b) * or * .  
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9.5 Seller, Buyer, and * will cooperate in good faith to establish the relevant * of * to be included in the * of * . If Seller and Buyer have not 
agreed to the composition of the relevant * within thirty (30) days, then the relevant * will be finally * .  

9.6 Seller and Buyer will cooperate and negotiate in good faith in connection with allocating the aggregate price increases permitted by Buyer 
under Section 9.1(b) among individual Products to be purchased by Buyer during the Option Extension Period.  
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EXHIBIT B  

MEDICAL POWER SOURCES  

PRICING AND INVENTORY LEVEL  

I. Battery  

A. Pricing  

Lithium iodine Bradycardia Device Batteries  

 

1. Purchase Requirements: * % of Buyer's bradycardia device battery demand to be purchased from Seller  

2. Pricing for current models, standard shape and pin modifications  

SVO Multiplate Defibrillator Batteries  

1. Purchase Requirements: Minimum of * % of Buyer's tachycardia device battery demand to be purchased from Seller  

2. $ * initial price for all models (excluding * )  

3. * % annual price reduction for models > * units in previous year  

4. "Units per year" determined by battery model on a calendar year basis  

5. Models * excluded from annual price reduction  

6. Pricing applies to current technologies referred to as High Temperature Pressed Powder / High Temperature Sheet (HTPP/HTS).  

7. Price premiums based upon shape and /or terminal modification complexity apply  
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                             Lithium Iodine Pricing  
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  
         Model                   2004                2005                2006 
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  
          8077                   $ *                 $ *                 $ * 
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  
          8711                   $ *                 $ *                 $ * 
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  
          9107                   $ *                 $ *                 $ * 
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  
          9438                   $ *                 $ *                 $ * 
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  
          9918                   $ *                 $ *                 $ * 
------------------------- ------------------- ----- -------------- -------------------  



 

2. Purchase Requirements: Minimum of * % of Buyer's tachycardia device battery demand to be purchased from Seller  

3. $ * initial price for all * , * or * plate models  

4. Price premium applies for all odd-number plate cells and cells > * plates  

8. * % annual price reduction for models > * units in previous year  

5. "Units per year" determined by battery model on a calendar year basis  

6. A price premium may be applied for shape and/or terminal modification complexity  

Carbon Monofluoride Basic Cell Pricing (CFx)  

 

1. Purchase Requirements: * % of Buyer's bradycardia device battery demand to be purchased from Seller  

2. CFx "Units per Year" include all models on a calendar year basis  

3. Minimum annual quantity per model 500 pcs.  

4. CFx pricing shown above is for stainless steel encased, single cathode plate construction cells  

5. Price premiums based upon shape and/or terminal modification complexity apply  

Quasar Medium Rate (MR) Cell Pricing  

                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                                   Model                2004 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                                    2255                 $ * 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                                    9443                 $ * 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                                    2156                 $ * 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                                    2150                 $ * 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
                                   Aegis                 $ * 
                           ----------------------- ----------------  
 
Quasar High Rate Cell Pricing: 
 
      1.   Quasar High Rate battery technology defi ned as High Rate  
           SVO/CFx hybrid 

-------------------- ----------------------------  
    Units/Year                  Price 
-------------------- ----------------------------  
-------------------- ----------------------------  
       * - *                     $ * 
-------------------- ----------------------------  
-------------------- ----------------------------  
         *                       $ * 
-------------------- ----------------------------  

-------------------- ----------------------------  
    Units/Year                  Price 
-------------------- ----------------------------  
-------------------- ----------------------------  
       * - *                     $ * 
-------------------- ----------------------------  
-------------------- ----------------------------  



 

1. Purchase Requirements: * % of Buyer's bradycardia device battery demand to be purchased from Seller  

2. Quasar MR "Units per Year" include all models on a calendar year basis  
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         *                       $ * 
-------------------- ----------------------------  



3. Minimum annual quantity per model 500 pieces.  

4. Quasar MR pricing shown above is for stainless steel encased, single cathode plate construction cells  

5. Price premiums based upon shape and/or terminal modification complexity apply  

B. Battery Inventory  

1. Seller's obligation under the Agreement to maintain inventory is limited to the level reflected in "Inventory Requirement" column of the table 
set forth below (subject to Item 5 below).  

2. The "Inventory Requirement" is that Seller maintain inventory that can be processed by Seller to completion and shipped to Buyer within 5 
calendar days  

3. Seller inventories will be replenished within a period of 40 calendar days.  

4. All inventory levels adjusted quarterly per Buyer's updated forecast  

5. Safety Stock requirement for Buyer's location in Sweden (AB) is limited to Consignment Inventory only  

 

C. Exclusivity  

1. Lithium Iodine Power Sources (Pacemaker Applications)  

1.1. The cell model/design will remain exclusive to Buyer for two  
(2) years after shipment of the first implantable grade unit.  

1.2. In the event Buyer requests the cell to continue exclusivity in perpetuity, the following course of action will apply:  

1.2.1. Upon shipment of the * unit in the same model configuration, Buyer must send Seller a letter stating Buyer's intent of exclusivity in 
perpetuity, and pay Seller the sum of $ * .  

2. Shapes that are less than 5 mm thick.  

2.1. The cell will remain exclusive to Buyer for two (2) years after shipment of the first implantable grade unit. 2.2. In the event Buyer requests 
the cell to continue exclusivity in perpetuity, the following course of action will apply:  

2.2.1. Upon shipment of the * unit in the same model configuration, Buyer must send Seller a letter stating Buyer's intent of exclusivity in 
perpetuity, and pay Seller the sum of $ * .  
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--------------------------------------------------- ----------  
     Battery                      Required Inventor y 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------  
 Lithium Iodine                 15% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------  
       SVO                       8% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------  
       CFx                        15% annual foreca st 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------  
    Quasar HR                    8% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------  
    Quasar MR                    8% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------  



3. Solid Cathode Multiplate Power Sources (High Rate Defibrillator Applications)  

3.1. The cell will remain exclusive to Buyer for three (3) years after shipment of the first implantable grade unit.  

3.2. In the event Buyer requests the cell to continue exclusivity in perpetuity, the following course of action will apply:  

3.2.1. Upon shipment of the * unit in the same model configuration, Buyer must send Seller a letter stating Buyer's intent of exclusivity in 
perpetuity, and pay Seller the sum of $ * .  

II. Capacitor:  

 

C. Exclusivity  

1. The capacitor pack will remain exclusive to Buyer for two  
(2) years after shipment of the first implantable grade unit.  

2. In the event Buyer requests the pack to continue exclusivity in perpetuity, the following course of action will apply:  
Upon shipment of the * pack in the same model configuration, Buyer must send Seller a letter stating Buyer's intent of exclusivity in perpetuity, 
and must pay Seller the sum of $ * .  
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A.       Wet Tantalum Capacitor Pricing: 
 
   ----------------------------------- ------------ -------------- 
                 Device                          Pe r Set of 4 
   ----------------------------------- ------------ -------------- 
   ----------------------------------- ------------ -------------- 
               Epic Plus                              $ * 
   ----------------------------------- ------------ -------------- 
   ----------------------------------- ------------ -------------- 
                Atlas II                              $ * 
   ----------------------------------- ------------ -------------- 
 
         1.       Price Premiums for terminal modif ication complexity  
                  and paralyne coating apply 
 
B. Inventory 
 
    ----------------------------------------------- --------------- 
        Capacitor                     Required Inve ntory 
    ----------------------------------------------- --------------- 
            All                      10% of annual forecast 
       Capacitors 
    ----------------------------------------------- --------------- 



EXHIBIT C  

COMPONENTS - FEEDTHROUGHS  

PRICING AND INVENTORY LEVELS  

III. Components  

A. Feedthrough and Filtered Feedthrough Pricing  

 

1. Purchase Requirements: Minimum of * % of Buyer's product demand for items listed above to be purchased from Seller  

2. 1B Alternative (part #TBD in table above) Supplier Pricing and Buyer Demand requirements become effective within six months after 
successful qualification of part  
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---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
                                 WGT Part           SJM Part          Current 
                                  Number             Number        Selling Price    2004 Price    2005  Price    2006 Price 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
  Feedthrough Components 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Tripolar                     0959901            063 27659                $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Bipolar                      0977101            020 54583                $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Quad                         0970001            800 1713                 $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Quad                         0961101            300 1206                 $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
1540 EPIC HF                 1540M102PXC        108 0514-001             $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
ATLAS 2 4 PIN                1540M102PXE        100 09230                $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
ATLAS 2 6 PIN                2060M102PXH        100 09229                $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
2060shorter lead             2060M102PXE        108 0492-004             $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Photon micro 2               2060M102PXG        100 07259                $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Aegis 8-Pin                  1016501            TBD                      $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
Aegis 6-Pin                  1018301            TBD                      $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  
IB Alternative (Surface      TBD                TBD                      $ *            $ *           $  *            $ * 
Mount) 
---------------------------- ------------------ --- -------------- ---------------- ------------- ----- -------- --------------  



EXHIBIT D  

COMPONENTS - MACHINED PARTS  

PRICING AND INVENTORY LEVELS  

B. Platinum Components Pricing  

 

1. Purchase Requirements: Minimum of * % of Buyer's product demand for items listed above to be purchased from Seller  

2. Coated Helix (STJ part #6041992-002 above) Supplier Pricing and Buyer Demand Requirements become effective within six months after 
successful qualification of part  

C . Other Machined/Molded Components Pricing  

----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
                            WGT Part            SJM  Part 
                             Number              Nu mber           2004 Price     2005 Price     2006 P rice 
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
 Platinum Components 
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Tip                     1005801           02106334/ 6042378           $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Ring                    1005701           02106342/ 6042379           $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Ring                    0947001           06112523                   $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Eluting Tip             0959201           6041783                    $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Coated Helix            0976301           6041992-0 02                $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Tip                     0956501           0602506                    $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  
Tip                     0957001           6041706                    $ *             $ *           $ *  
----------------------- ----------------- --------- ------------ --------------- -------------- ------- ------  

-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
                                                         WGT Part 
                                                          Number            2004 Price       2005 Pric e      2006 Price 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
                 Machined Parts 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
SET SCREW ALL                                      6041534-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
WASHER                                             6041701-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
L" CONNECTOR ASSEMBLY                              7001630-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
L" CONNECTOR ASSEMBLY/MICRONY                      7001441-012                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
SPACER                                             6041696-002                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
SET SCREW ALL                                      6041504-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
RING                                               6041697-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
CONNECTOR PIN                                      6041555-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
PROXIMAL RING                                      6041266-002                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
CRIMP CORE                                         6041693-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
ANCHOR-PROFILE                                     8008873                     $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
SEPTUM RING                                        3001236                     $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
HEADER COUPLING                                    6041994-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
CONNECTOR RING                                     6041987-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
CONNECTOR BLOCK                                    6041809-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
ICD CONNECTOR BLOCK                                10001534                    $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
ICD CONNECTOR BLOCK                                10001535                    $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
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ICD CONNECTOR BLOCK                                10001536                    $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
WELDED CONNECTOR ASSEMBLY                          7002237-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
WELDED CONNECTOR ASSEMBLY                          7002236-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
WELDED CONNECTOR ASSEMBLY                          7002323-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  
WELDED CONNECTOR ASSEMBLY                          7002323-001                 $ *              $ *             $ * 
-------------------------------------------------- --------------------- ----------------- ----------- ---- ---------------  



1. Purchase Requirements: Minimum of * % of Buyer's product demand for items listed above to be purchased from Seller  

D. Component Inventory  

1. Seller's obligation to maintain inventory is limited to the level reflected in "Inventory Requirement" column of the table set forth below 
(subject to Item 5 below).  

2. The "Inventory Requirement" is that Seller maintain inventory that can be processed by Seller to completion and shipped to Buyer within 5 
calendar days  

3. Seller inventories will be replenished within a period of 40 calendar days.  

4. All inventory levels adjusted quarterly per Buyer's updated forecast  

5. Safety Stock requirement for Buyer's location in Sweden (AB) is limited to Consignment Inventory only  
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--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
    Component                     Required Inventor y 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
  Feedthroughs                  15% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
    Filtered 
  Feedthroughs                  15% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
 Machined Parts                   10% annual foreca st 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
 Platinum Parts                   10% annual foreca st 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
  Molded Parts                    10% annual foreca st 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  



EXHIBIT E  

ENCLOSURES  

PRICING AND INVENTORY LEVELS  

A. Enclosure Pricing  

 

1. Purchase Requirements: * % of Buyer's overall enclosure demand to be purchased from Seller.  

B. Enclosure Inventory  
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------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
                                                                     Price 
------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
          Part                   Product                  2004                   2005                   2006 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
      6011200-001               Affinity                  $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
      6011200-002               Affinity                  $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        2101590                Affinity AB                $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        2101582                Affinity AB                $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
      6012054-001               Integrity                 $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
      6012054-002               Integrity                 $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        2065589              Integ. Micro AB              $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        2074441              Integ. Micro AB              $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
      6042356-001             Photon Micro                $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
      6042356-002             Photon Micro                $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10007741                 Photon                   $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10007742                 Photon                   $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10008938                  Atlas                   $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10008939                                          $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10008940                                          $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10008941                  Atlas                   $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        *6231463            Case Left Side AB             $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        *6231471           Case Right Side AB             $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  
        10006573             Bathtub Anchor               $ *                     $ *                    $ * 
------------------------- ---------------------- -- --------------------- ---------------------- ------ ----------------  

--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
    Enclosure                     Required Inventor y 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  
 All Enclosures                 10% of annual forec ast 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------  



EXHIBIT 12.1  

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES  
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                                                       Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 
                                                     2003           2002           2001          2000           1999 
                                                --- --------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
Earnings: 
Income before income taxes                            $ 33,316       $ 20,965       $ 13,778        $ (876)      $ (2,134)  
Pretax charges (credits)                                   (94)           (28)                           -              - 
 
Fixed Charges: 
         Interest expense                                3,523          3,265          3,699        12 ,305         12,448 
         Capitalized interest                               99             30              -             -              - 
         Deferred financing fees                           578            487            312           907            972 
         Interest portion of rental expense                319            275            300           306            269 
                                                --- --------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                                      $ 37,741       $ 24,994       $ 18,089      $ 12 ,642       $ 11,555 
                                                === =================================================== ====================  
 
Fixed Charges: 
         Interest expense                                3,523          3,265          3,699        12 ,305         12,448 
         Capitalized interest                               99             30              -             -              - 
         Deferred financing fees                           578            487            312           907            972 
         Interest portion of rental expense                319            275            300           306            269 
                                                --- --------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                                       $ 4,519        $ 4,057        $ 4,311      $ 13 ,518       $ 13,689 
                                                === =================================================== ====================  
 
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges                         8.4            6.2            4.2           0.9            0.8 
                                                === =================================================== ====================  



EXHIBIT 21.1  

SUBSIDIARIES OF WILSON GREATBATCH TECHNOLOGIES, INC .  
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Subsidiary                                                        Incorporated 
----------                                                        ------------ 
 
WGL Intermediate Holdings, Inc.                                   Delaware 
(direct subsidiary of Wilson Greatbatch Technologie s, Inc.) 
Wilson Greatbatch Ltd.                                            New York 
(direct subsidiary of WGL Intermediate Holdings, In c.) 
Greatbatch-Hittman, Inc.                                          Delaware 
(direct subsidiary of Wilson Greatbatch Ltd.) 
 
Battery Engineering, Inc.                                         Massachusetts  
(direct subsidiary of Wilson Greatbatch Ltd.) 
 
Greatbatch-Sierra, Inc.                                           Delaware 
(direct subsidiary of Wilson Greatbatch Ltd.) 
 
Greatbatch-Globe Tool, Inc.                                       Minnesota 
(direct subsidiary of Wilson Greatbatch Ltd.) 



EXHIBIT 23.1  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No's. 333-61476 and 333-97209 of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, 
Inc. on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-107667 of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. on Form S-3 of our report dated March 
1, 2003 (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to an accounting change in 2002), 
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. for the year ended January 2, 2004.  

Buffalo, New York  
March 11, 2004  
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Exhibit 31.1  

CERTIFICATION  

I, Edward F. Voboril, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2004 of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by the report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:  

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;  

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.  

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant's auditor and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.  
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Date:  March 12, 2004 
 
                                 /s/ Edward F. Voboril 
                                 ---------------------- 
                                 Edward F. Voboril 
                                 Chairman of the Board, President and 
                                 Chief Executive Officer 



Exhibit 31.2  

CERTIFICATION  

I, Lawrence P. Reinhold, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2004 of Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by the report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:  

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;  

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.  

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant's auditor and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.  
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Date:  March 12, 2004 
 
                             /s/ Lawrence P. Reinhold 
                             ------------------------- 
                             Lawrence P. Reinhold 
                             Executive Vice President and 
                             Chief Financial Officer 



Exhibit 32.1  

CERTIFICATION  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned officers of 
Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. (the "Company"), does hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:  

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 2, 2004 (the "Form 10-K") of the Company fully complies with the requirements 
of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material 
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

 

This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this Form 10-K pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is not being filed for 
purposes of  
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the 
Company unless such incorporation is expressly referenced within.  
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 Dated: March 12, 2004          /s/ Edward F. Voboril 
                                ---------------------- 
                                Edward F. Voboril 
                                President and Chief Executive Officer and 
                                Chairman of the Board 
 
 
 
Dated: March 12, 2004           /s/ Lawrence P. Reinhold 
                                ------------------------ 
                                Lawrence P. Reinhold 
                                Executive Vice President and 
                                Chief Financial Officer 



EXHIBIT 99.1  

FACTORS POSSIBLY AFFECTING FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS   

From time to time, Wilson Greatbatch Technologies, Inc. (the Company) publishes forward-looking statements relating to anticipated financial 
performance, business development (including mergers, acquisitions, and other commercial arrangements), product development and 
regulatory approval timelines, intellectual property matters, market developments and similar matters. A variety of factors could cause the 
company's actual results and experience to differ materially from those projected, including the following:  

Risks Related To Our Business  

We depend heavily on a limited number of customers, and if we lose any of them, we would lose a substantial portion of our revenues.  

A substantial portion of our business is conducted with a limited number of customers, including Guidant, St. Jude Medical, Medtronic and 
Biotronik. In 2003, Guidant and St. Jude Medical collectively accounted for approximately 66% of our revenues. Our supply agreements, 
particularly with our large customers, might not be renewed after they expire, including our battery supply agreement with Guidant, which 
expires on December 31, 2006, and our supply agreement with St. Jude Medical, which expires on December 31, 2006. Furthermore, our 
supply agreements with St. Jude Medical, Medtronic, Biotronik and Guidant do not contain any minimum purchase level requirements and 
therefore there is no guaranteed source of revenue that we can depend upon under these agreements. The loss of any large customer for any 
reason would harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

If we do not respond to changes in technology, our products may become obsolete and we may experience a loss of customers and lower 
revenues.  

We sell our products to customers in several industries that are characterized by rapid technological changes, frequent new product 
introductions and evolving industry standards. For example, in 1998, an industry-wide design change in ICDs occurred, resulting in new ICDs 
using one battery instead of two. Primarily as a result of this design change, our implantable medical battery revenues decreased 19% in 1999 
compared to 1998. Without the timely introduction of new products and enhancements, our products and services will likely become 
technologically obsolete over time and we may lose a significant number of our customers. In addition, other new products introduced by our 
customers may require fewer of our batteries or components. We dedicate a significant amount of resources to the development of our batteries 
and other products and technologies and we would be harmed if we did not meet customer requirements and expectations. Our inability, for 
technological or other reasons, to successfully develop and introduce new and innovative power sources and other products could result in a 
loss of customers and lower revenues.  

If we are unable to successfully market our current or future products, our business will be harmed and our revenues and operating results will 
be reduced.  

The market for our medical batteries, components and other products has been growing in recent years. If the market for our products does not 
grow as rapidly as forecasted by industry experts, our revenues could be less than expected. In addition, it is difficult to predict the rate at 
which the market for our products will grow or at which new and increased competition will result in market saturation. Slower growth in the 
pacemaker, ICD and CRT markets in particular would negatively impact our revenues. In addition, we face the risk that our products will lose 
widespread market acceptance. We cannot assure you that our customers will continue to utilize the products we offer or that a market will 
develop for our future products. We may at times determine that it is not technically or economically feasible for us to continue to manufacture 
certain products and we may not be successful in developing or marketing them. Additionally, new technologies that we develop may not be 
rapidly accepted because of industry-specific factors, including the need for regulatory clearance, entrenched patterns of clinical practice and 
uncertainty over third party reimbursement. If this occurs, our business will be harmed and our revenues and operating results will be 
negatively affected.  
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We are subject to pricing pressures from customers, which could harm our operating results.  

We have made price concessions to some of our large customers in recent years and we expect customer pressure for pricing concessions will 
continue. Further, price concessions or reductions may cause our operating results to suffer. In addition, any delay or failure by a large 
customer to make payments due to us also could harm our operating results or financial condition.  

We rely on third party suppliers for raw materials, key products and subcomponents and if we are unable to obtain these materials, products 
and subcomponents on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to us, our ability to manufacture products will suffer.  

Our business depends on a continuous supply of raw materials. The principal raw materials used in our business include lithium, iodine, 
tantalum, platinum, ruthenium, gallium trichloride, tantalum pellets and vanadium pentoxide. Raw materials needed for our business are 
susceptible to fluctuations due to transportation, government regulations, price controls, economic climate or other unforeseen circumstances. 
Increasing global demand for some of the raw materials we need for our business, including platinum, gallium trichloride and tantalum, has 
caused the prices of these materials to increase significantly. In addition, there are a limited number of worldwide suppliers of the lithium 
needed to manufacture our products. We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to procure raw materials critical to our business or 
to procure them at acceptable price levels.  

We rely on third party manufacturers to supply many of our raw materials. For example, we rely on FMC to supply us with lithium for our 
power sources and HC Starck to supply us with tantalum powder and wire for capacitors. Manufacturing problems may occur with these and 
other outside sources, as a supplier may fail to develop and supply products and subcomponents to us on a timely basis, or may supply us with 
products and subcomponents that do not meet our quality, quantity and cost requirements. If any of these problems occur, we may be unable to 
obtain substitute sources of these products and subcomponents on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to us, which could harm our ability to 
manufacture our own products and components profitably or on time. In addition, to the extent the processes that our suppliers use to 
manufacture products and subcomponents are proprietary, we may be unable to obtain comparable subcomponents from alternative suppliers.  

We may never realize the full value of our intangible assets, which represent a significant portion of our total assets.  

At December 31, 2003, we had $171.0 million of intangible assets, representing 39% of our total assets and 73% of our stockholders' equity. 
These intangible assets consist primarily of goodwill, trademarks, tradenames and patented technology arising from our acquisitions. Under 
SFAS No. 142, adopted by us on December 29, 2001, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized. SFAS 
No. 142 requires that the fair value of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives be tested annually or upon the occurrence of 
certain events, and be written down to fair value if considered impaired. We may not receive the recorded value for our intangible assets if we 
sell or liquidate our business or assets. In addition, the material concentration of intangible assets increases the risk of a large charge to earnings 
in the event that the recoverability of these intangible assets is impaired, and in the event of such a charge to earnings, the market price of our 
common stock could be adversely affected. In addition, intangible assets with definite lives, which represent $51.4 million of our net intangible 
assets at December 31, 2003, will continue to be amortized. We incurred total amortization expenses relating to these intangible assets of $3.2 
million in 2003. These expenses will reduce our future earnings or increase our future losses.  
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Quality problems with our medical batteries and other products could harm our reputation for producing high quality products, erode our 
competitive advantage and result in claims against us.  

Our medical batteries and other products are held to high quality standards. In the event that our medical batteries and other products fail to 
meet these standards, our reputation for producing high quality medical batteries and other products could be harmed, which would damage our 
competitive advantage and could result in lower revenues. From time to time quality or performance issues have arisen regarding our medical 
batteries and other products. Product quality or performance issues, however, may arise in the future that could have a significant adverse 
impact on us, either because they harm our reputation for high quality, result in a product liability or other legal claim against us, harm our 
reputation with our customers or result in a decline in our stock price.  

If we become subject to product liability claims, our operating results and financial condition could suffer.  

The manufacture and sale of our products expose us to potential product liability claims and product recalls, including those that may arise 
from failure to meet product specifications, misuse or malfunction of, or design flaws in, our products, or use of our products with components 
or systems not manufactured or sold by us. Many of our products are components and function in interaction with our customers' medical 
devices. For example, our batteries are produced to meet various electrical performance, longevity and other specifications, but the actual 
performance of those products is dependent on how they are in fact utilized as part of the customers' devices over the lifetime of the products. 
Product performance and device interaction from time to time have been, and may in the future be, different than expected for a number of 
reasons. Consequently, it is possible that customers may experience problems with their medical devices that could require device recall or 
other corrective action, where our batteries met the specification at delivery, and for reasons that are not related primarily or at all to any failure 
by our product to perform in accordance with specifications. It is possible that customers (or patients) may in the future assert that our products 
caused or contributed to device failure where our product was not the primary cause of the device performance issue. Even if such assertions do 
not lead to product liability or contract claims, they could harm our reputation and our customer relationships.  

Provisions contained in our agreements with key customers attempting to limit our damages, including provisions to limit damages to liability 
for gross negligence, may not be enforceable in all instances or may otherwise fail to protect us from liability for damages. Product liability 
claims or product recalls, regardless of their ultimate outcome, could require us to spend significant time and money in litigation or require us 
to pay significant damages. The occurrence of product liability claims or product recalls could cause our operating results and financial 
condition to suffer.  
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We carry product liability insurance coverage which is limited in scope and amount. Our management believes that our insurance coverage is 
adequate given the risks we face. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain this insurance or to do so at a reasonable cost and on 
reasonable terms. We also cannot assure you that this insurance will be adequate to protect us against a product liability claim that arises in the 
future.  

Our operating results may fluctuate, which may make it difficult to forecast our future performance and may result in volatility in our stock 
price.  

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to a variety of factors, 
including:  

o the fixed nature of a substantial percentage of our costs, which results in our operations being particularly sensitive to fluctuations in revenue; 

o changes in the relative portion of our revenue represented by our various products and customers, which could result in reductions in our 
profits if the relative portion of our revenue represented by lower margin products increases;  

o timing of orders placed by our principal customers who account for a significant portion of our revenues; and  

o increased costs of raw materials or supplies.  

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights, our business could be adversely affected.  

We rely on a combination of patents, licenses, trade secrets and know-how to establish and protect our proprietary rights to our technologies 
and products. As of December 31, 2003, we held 266 active U.S. patents. We cannot guarantee that the steps we have taken or will take to 
protect our proprietary rights will be adequate to deter misappropriation of our intellectual property. In addition to seeking formal patent 
protection whenever possible, we attempt to protect our proprietary rights and trade secrets by entering into confidentiality and non-compete 
agreements with employees, consultants and third parties with which we do business. However, these agreements can be breached and, if they 
are, there may not be an adequate remedy available to us and we may be unable to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical 
knowledge, practices or procedures. If our trade secrets become known, we may lose our competitive advantages.  

In addition, we may not be able to detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property and take appropriate steps to enforce our rights. If third 
parties infringe or misappropriate our patents or other proprietary rights, our business could be seriously harmed. We may be required to spend 
significant resources to monitor our intellectual property rights, we may not be able to detect infringement of these rights and may lose our 
competitive advantages associated with our intellectual property rights before we do so. In addition, competitors may design around our 
technology or develop competing technologies that do not infringe on our proprietary rights.  
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We may be subject to intellectual property claims, which could be costly and time consuming and could divert our management and key 
personnel from our business operations.  

In producing our batteries and other components for implantable medical devices, third parties may claim that we are infringing their 
intellectual property rights, and we may be found to have infringed those intellectual property rights. While we do not believe that any of our 
products infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, we may be unaware of intellectual property rights of others that may be used in 
our technology and products. In addition, third parties may claim that our patents have been improperly granted and may seek to invalidate our 
existing or future patents. Although we do not believe that any of our active patents should be subject to invalidation, if any claim for 
invalidation prevailed, the result could be greatly expanded opportunities for third parties to manufacture and sell products which compete with 
our products and our revenues from any related license agreements would decrease accordingly. We also typically do not receive significant 
indemnification from parties which license technology to us against third party claims of intellectual property infringement. Any litigation or 
other challenges regarding our patents or other intellectual property could be costly and time consuming and could divert our management and 
key personnel from our business operations. The complexity of the technology involved in producing our power sources and other components 
for implantable medical devices, and the uncertainty of intellectual property litigation increase these risks. Claims of intellectual property 
infringement might also require us to enter into costly royalty or license agreements. However, we may not be able to obtain royalty or license 
agreements on terms acceptable to us, or at all. We also may be subject to significant damages or injunctions against development and sale of 
our products. Infringement claims, even if not substantiated, could result in significant legal and other costs and may be a distraction to 
management.  

We are dependent upon our senior management team and key personnel and the loss of any of them could significantly harm us.  

Our future performance depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our senior management team and key technical 
personnel. Our products are highly technical in nature. In general, only highly qualified and trained scientists have the necessary skills to 
develop our medical batteries and other products. The loss or unavailability to us of any member of our senior management team or a key 
technical employee could significantly harm us. We face intense competition for these professionals from our competitors, our customers and 
other companies operating in our industry. To the extent that the services of members of our senior management team and key technical 
personnel would be unavailable to us for any reason, we would be required to hire other personnel to manage and operate our company and to 
develop our products and technology. We cannot assure you that we would be able to locate or employ such qualified personnel on acceptable 
terms.  

We may not be able to attract, train and retain a sufficient number of qualified professionals to maintain and grow our business.  

Our success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, train, retain and motivate highly skilled employees and management. There is 
currently aggressive competition for employees who have experience in technology and engineering that is used in manufacturing and 
producing batteries and other components for implantable medical devices. We compete intensely with other companies to recruit and hire 
from this limited pool. The industries in which we compete for employees are characterized by high levels of employee attrition. Although we 
believe we offer competitive salaries and benefits, we may have to increase spending in order to retain personnel.  
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We may make acquisitions that could subject us to a number of operational risks and we may not be successful in integrating companies we 
acquire into our existing operations.  

We have made and expect to make in the future selective acquisitions that complement our core competencies in technology and manufacturing 
to enable us to manufacture and sell additional products to our existing customers and to expand our business into related markets. However, 
implementation of our acquisition strategy entails a number of risks, including:  

o inaccurate assessments of undisclosed liabilities;  

o diversion of our management's attention from our core businesses;  

o potential loss of key employees or customers of the acquired businesses;  

o difficulties in integrating the operations and products of an acquired business or in realizing projected efficiencies and cost savings; and  

o increases in our indebtedness and a limitation in our ability to access additional capital when needed.  

If we are not successful in making acquisitions to expand and develop our business, our operating results may suffer.  

A component of our strategy is to make selective acquisitions that complement our core competencies in technology and manufacturing to 
enable us to manufacture and sell additional products to our existing customers and to expand our business into related markets. For example, 
in August 1998, we acquired Hittman Materials and Medical Components, Inc., a medical components manufacturer, in August 2000, we 
acquired Battery Engineering, Inc., a specialty battery manufacturer, in June 2001, we acquired the Sierra-KD Components Division of 
Maxwell Technologies, Inc., a leading developer and manufacturer of electromagnetic interference, or EMI, filters and capacitors for 
implantable medical devices, and in July 2002 we acquired Globe Tool and Manufacturing Company, Inc., a leading manufacturer of high-
precision titanium enclosures for implantable medical devices, including pacemakers, ICDs and CRTs. Our continued growth will depend on 
our ability to identify and acquire companies that complement or enhance our business on acceptable terms. We may not be able to identify or 
complete future acquisitions. Some of the risks that we may encounter include expenses associated with and difficulties in identifying potential 
targets, the costs associated with incomplete acquisitions, and higher prices for acquired companies because of competition for attractive 
acquisition targets. Our failure to acquire additional companies could cause our operating results to suffer.  
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We may face competition from our principal customers that could harm our business and we may be unable to compete successfully against 
new entrants and established companies with greater resources.  

Competition in connection with the manufacturing of batteries for implantable medical devices may intensify in the future. One or more of our 
customers that manufactures implantable medical devices may undertake additional vertical integration initiatives and begin to manufacture 
some or all of their battery requirements. Although Medtronic manufactures its own lithium batteries for its pacemakers, ICDs and CRTs, to 
date, to our knowledge, Medtronic has not sold batteries to third parties. If Medtronic were to begin selling batteries for implantable medical 
devices to third parties, our revenues could be harmed. Biotronik produces batteries for use in its implantable medical devices and has 
attempted to market those batteries to other device manufacturers. As the implantable medical device industry continues to consolidate, the risk 
that our principal customers will manufacture their own power sources will increase. Many of our potential medical battery and component 
competitors, which include some of our customers, have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, larger customer bases, longer 
customer relationships and greater financial, technical, personnel and marketing resources than our company.  

The market for commercial power sources is competitive, fragmented and subject to rapid technological change. Many other commercial power 
source suppliers are larger and have greater financial, operational, personnel, sales, technical and marketing resources than our company. These 
and other companies may develop products that are superior to ours, which could cause our results of operations to suffer.  

Accidents at one of our facilities could delay production and adversely affect our operations.  

Our business involves complex manufacturing processes and hazardous materials that can be dangerous to our employees. Although we 
employ safety procedures in the design and operation of our facilities and we have not experienced any deaths or serious accidents, there is a 
risk that an accident or death could occur in one of our facilities. Any accident, such as a chemical spill, could result in significant 
manufacturing delays or claims for damages resulting from injuries, which would harm our operations and financial condition. The potential 
liability resulting from any such accident or death, to the extent not covered by insurance, could cause our business to suffer. Any disruption of 
operations at any of our facilities could harm our business.  

We intend to expand into new markets and our proposed expansion plans may not be successful, which could harm our operating results.  

We intend to expand into new markets through the development of new product applications based on our existing component technologies. 
These efforts have required, and will continue to require us to make substantial investments, including significant research, development and 
engineering expenditures and capital expenditures for new, expanded or improved manufacturing facilities. We may not be able to successfully 
manage expansion into new markets and products and these efforts may harm our operating results. Specific risks in connection with expanding 
into new markets include the inability to transfer our quality standards into new products, the failure of customers in new markets to accept our 
products and price competition.  
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Our failure to obtain licenses from third parties for new technologies or the loss of these licenses could impair our ability to design and 
manufacture new products and harm our revenues.  

We occasionally license technologies from third parties rather than depending exclusively on our own proprietary technology and 
developments. For example, we license a capacitor patent from the Evans Capacitor Company. Our ability to license new technologies from 
third parties is and will continue to be critical to our ability to offer new and improved products. We may not be able to continue to identify 
new technologies developed by others and even if we are able to identify new technologies, we may not be able to negotiate licenses on 
favorable terms, or at all. Additionally, we could lose rights granted under licenses for reasons beyond our control. For example, the licensor 
could lose patent protection for a number of reasons, including invalidity of the licensed patent.  

Our failure to timely or properly implement our new information systems could adversely affect our business.  

We are in the process of implementation of new information systems. Any failures, difficulties or significant delays in implementing these new 
information systems could result in material adverse consequences to our business, including disruption of operations, loss of information and 
unanticipated increases in costs.  

Risks Related To Our Industry  

We and our customers are subject to various political, economic and regulatory changes in the healthcare industry which could force us to 
modify how we develop and price our products.  

The healthcare industry is highly regulated and is influenced by changing political, economic and regulatory factors. Several of our product 
lines are subject to international, federal, state and local health and safety, packaging and product content regulations. In addition, implantable 
medical device products produced by our healthcare customers are subject to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and similar 
governmental agencies. These regulations govern a wide variety of product activities from design and development to labeling, manufacturing, 
promotion, sales and distribution. Compliance with these regulations may be time consuming, burdensome and expensive and could negatively 
affect our customers' abilities to sell their products, which in turn would adversely affect our ability to sell our products. This may result in 
higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated revenues.  

These regulations are also complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time. Federal and state legislatures have 
periodically considered programs to reform or amend the U.S. healthcare system at both the federal and state levels. In addition, these 
regulations may contain proposals to increase governmental involvement in healthcare, lower reimbursement rates or otherwise change the 
environment in which healthcare industry participants operate. We may be required to incur significant expenses to comply with these 
regulations or remedy past violations of these regulations. Any failure by our company to comply with applicable government regulations 
could also result in cessation of portions or all of our operations, impositions of fines and restrictions on our ability to carry on or expand our 
operations. In addition, because many of our products are sold into regulated industries, we must comply with additional regulations in 
marketing our products.  
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Our business is subject to environmental regulations that could be costly for our company to comply with.  

Federal, state and local regulations impose various environmental controls on the manufacturing, transportation, storage, use and disposal of 
batteries and hazardous chemicals and other materials used in, and hazardous waste produced by, the manufacturing of power sources and 
components. Conditions relating to our historical operations may require expenditures for clean-up in the future and changes in environmental 
laws and regulations may impose costly compliance requirements on us or otherwise subject us to future liabilities. Additional or modified 
regulations relating to the manufacture, transportation, storage, use and disposal of materials used to manufacture our batteries and components 
or restricting disposal of batteries may be imposed. In addition, we cannot predict the effect that additional or modified regulations may have 
on us or our customers.  

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could result in greater competition and reduce our revenues and harm our business.  

Many healthcare industry companies are consolidating to create new companies with greater market power. As the healthcare industry 
consolidates, competition to provide products and services to industry participants will become more intense. These industry participants may 
try to use their market power to negotiate price concessions or reductions for our products. If we are forced to reduce our prices because of 
consolidation in the healthcare industry, our revenues would decrease and our operating results would suffer.  

Our business is indirectly subject to healthcare industry cost containment measures that could result in reduced sales of our products.  

Our healthcare customers rely on third party payors, such as government programs and private health insurance plans, to reimburse some or all 
of the cost of the procedures in which our products are used. The continuing efforts of government, insurance companies and other payors of 
healthcare costs to contain or reduce those costs could lead to patients being unable to obtain approval for payment from these third party 
payors. If that occurred, sales of implantable medical devices may decline significantly, and our customers may reduce or eliminate purchases 
of our products. The cost containment measures that healthcare providers are instituting, both in the United States and internationally, could 
harm our ability to operate profitably.  

Our non-medical power source revenues are dependent on conditions in the oil and natural gas industry, which historically have been volatile.  

Sales of our non-medical power sources depend to a great extent upon the condition of the oil and gas industry and, specifically, the exploration 
and production expenditures of oil and gas companies. In the past, oil and natural gas prices have been volatile and the oil and gas exploration 
and production industry has been cyclical, and it is likely that oil and natural gas prices will continue to fluctuate in the future. The current and 
anticipated prices of oil and natural gas influence the oil and gas exploration and production business and are affected by a variety of political 
and economic factors beyond our control, including worldwide demand for oil and natural gas, worldwide and domestic supplies of oil and 
natural gas, the ability of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, or OPEC, to set and maintain production levels and pricing, the 
level of production of non-OPEC countries, the price and availability of  
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alternative fuels, political stability in oil producing regions and the policies of the various governments regarding exploration and development 
of their oil and natural gas reserves. An adverse change in the oil and gas exploration and production industry or a reduction in the exploration 
and production expenditures of oil and gas companies could cause our revenues from commercial power sources to suffer.  
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